v] TUMKUR DISTRICT 459

sanctioned recently, is working at Hulikunte, Sira Taluk.
There is no provision for 4 midwife to the Nonavinkere Dis-
pensary. There are two Nurses attached to the District
Hospital, Tumkur.

The total number of labour cases conducted during the
year 1925 was 881. The total number of in-patients and out-
patients treated during the year was 523 and 1,52,330 res-
pectively.

The total costincurred from the District Fund and Municipal
Funds during 1925 was Rs. 12,117 and Rs. 2,535 respectively
against Rs. 11,413 and Rs. 2,192 respectively in the previous
year.

VACCINATION.

The establishment for the purpose consists of 17 Vacci-
nators working under the supervision of the Chief Sanitary
Inspectors. During the year 1925, 19,735 persons were
vaccinated, of whom 10,756 were males and 8,979 females.
The total expenditure incurred during 1925 on this account
was Rs. 1,940.

SECTION V.—GAZETTEER.

Agrahara.— A village inKoratagere Taluk. Population780.
It hasa small Virabhadra temple and some lingamudre stones
without inscriptions. The latter are boundary stones marked
with a linga to indicate that the land bounded by them was
granted to a Siva temple or a Saiva institution. Similarly,
stones marked with a discus indicate a grant to a Vishnu
temple, while those marked with a mukkéde or triple umbrella,
a grant to a Jaina temple. The aromatic water-plant baje
(Acorus calamus) is largely cultivated in this village, more
than 50 acres of land being under this crop. The yield per
acre i3 said to be from 150 to 250 maunds. The root sells
at about Rs, 2-8-0 per maund and is exported to Bangalore
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and other places. At this village, Patel Isvarayya’s manu-
script library contains nearly one hundred palm-leaf manu-
scripts, several of which are unpublished Kannada and
Sanskrit works bearing mostly on the Virasaiva religion
and hagiology. There are also a few Kannada and Telugu
pocms, works treating of medicine and Kannada com-
mentaries on Sanskrit works.

Alburu.—A village in the Nonavinakere Hobli, Tiptur
Taluk. Population 797. This place has several inscriptional
records which are all printed (T'sptur 42-49). Of these, two
artistically executed viragals deserve some notice. One of
them near the Siva temple, Tiptur 44, dated 1395, is not only
beautifully engraved but also beautifully sculptured with.
caparisoned horses, elephants, etc. The other in a field to
the north-west, T'iptur 47, which is 7 feet high and may be
assigned to the close of the 9th century, is adorned with
sculptures in several panels, among which may be mentioned
two clephants bearing the hero seated on a throne at
the top.

Amritur.—A villagein Kunigal Taluk. Head-quarters of a
hobli of that name. Population 2,182. The Chennakésava
temple at this place is a neat Dravidian building with well
dressed sculptured pillars. The god, about 3} feet high, isa
good figure flanked by consorts. The central ceiling in the
navaranga is carved with a lotus. The temple is in a ruinous
condition. In front of the Somesvara temple near the tank is
a good but rather slender lamp-pillar about 30 feet high and
1} feet square at the bottom. Behind the temple is an
uyydle-kamba about 20 feet high. The temple of Pattala-
damma, the village goddess, situated at some distance from
the village, has several painted stucco figures. Two of them,
seated in the middle, represent the goddesses Pattdladamma
and Lakshmi. They are about 5 feet high and are canopied
by a seven-hooded serpent. The walls and the beams are
painted with figures of the ten incarnations of Vishnu, scenes
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representing the lilas or sports of Siva ard so forth. The
Jdtre or annual festival takes place in the month of Vaisdkha
(April-May). The pdjaris are Bestas or fishermen.

Arakankatte.—A village in Turuvekere Sub-Taluk. The
Narasimha temple at this place has for the object of worship
a pillar marked with a discus and a conch.

Aralaguppe.—A village in Kibbanahalli hobli, Tiptur
taluk. Population 913.

The Chennakésava temple at this place, about 4 miles from
the Banasandra Railway Station, is a fine building in the Hoysala
style, consisting of a garbhagrika, a sukhanasi and a nevaranga
to which is attached an entrance porch with verandas on both
sides. The temple stands on a high terrace facing east and
has at the sides of the entrance two empty pavilions on a lower
level, the upper ones having disappeared. On both sides of the
entrance runs around the entrance porch the usual jagati or
railed parapet. Judging from the paleography of the labels
giving the artist’s name—fifteen of them mention the artist
Honoja—the temple appears to have come into existence about
the middle of the 13th century. Attached to the south wall
and concealing its sculptures, stands a temple of Narasimha
which is evidently a later structure. The god, known as Ugra
(fierce) Narasimha, is a seated figure, about 2 feet high, killing
the demon Hiranyakasipu.

The Kallésvara temple is an old Dravidian building facing
east. The navaranga hasa well carved doorway with Gajalakshmi
on the lintel and a row of dwarfs on the pediment, and a fine
ceiling, measuring 6’ by 6, of ashta-dikpalakas, supported by
4 good pillars, with an elegantly carved Tandavésvara in the
middle and 4 doubled up-hanging figuresin the 4 directions,

- believed to be rishis in difficult postures of penance. On the
north and south walls are two fine pierced windows of scroll
work. Behind the big Nandi in front is a shrine containing a
figure, about 5 feet high, of Siirya, flanked by female archers.
Opposite the north entrance is another shrine having a large
figure, about 6 feet high, of Umamahésvara with a band above
serving for prabha, from which depend two Gandharvas. Oppo-
site the Umamahé@svara shrine stands outside a well carved but
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mutilated figure, about 6 feet high, of Vishnu with his ten incar-
nations sculptured on thc prabha. Close to the temple are
several linga shrine< in different directions. A mantapa in the
village, known as Palegir’s chavadi, is said to have been the
durbar hall of a former chief.

Bechirakh Rangapura.—A village in Sira Taluk.
Population 176. The Rangasvami temple at this place has a
round stone (udbhava-murti) for the object of worship. In
the prakara are several small shrines containing figures with
folded hands. 1In one of them is sculptured a couple seated
with folded hands with an inscription on the side slab stating
that the figures were consecrated by their son. Another slab
just outside the prakara, measuring 6 feet by 5 feet, represents
Hanuman and Garuda as contesting the possession of a fruit
which is split in the middle. . There is a similar panel at
Belur, but the object of dispute there is said to be a linga.

Bellavi.—A village in Tumkur Talnk 9 miles north-west
of Tumkur and a Village Panchayet. Population in 1921:
Males 933, Females 965, Total 1,898.

The streets are wide with uniform shops on either side. A
weekly fair is held here on Monday at which considerable
trade is carried on.

Benakankere.—A village in the Turuvekere Sub-Taluk,
Population 1,098. Tn the Anjanéva temple at this place,
an inscription was found on both sides of the image of
Anjandya. Theimage has been carved out of a thick inscribed
stone of the Hoysala period, the front face being made into
the image and the inscribed sides left as they were.

Bhangaranayakanabetta.—A hill in Pavagada Taluk.
In the Kambadaraya shrine at this hill, the object of worship

is a pillar, about 13 feet high, marked with a discus and a
conch on the sides. The pillar has an iron lamp fixed on the
top which is occasionally lighted by the villagers. No ladder
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is to be used for this purpose. The villagers have to bathe
and fast, and then, standing over the shoulders of one another
without allowing their feet to come in contact with the
pillar, they light the lamp. The hill near the village, which
was once fortified, contains the ruins of several buildings.

Bhasmangi.—A fortified hill in the Madhugiri Taluk, 26
miles north of Tumkur, close to the frontier. On the summit
is the temple of Bhasméang@svara. The original fortifications
are said to have been erected, by Budbi Basavappa Nayak,
of mud and stone. But when Haidar Ali captured the
place in 1768, he dismantled the old fort and erected .a
superior structure of stone and brick, with a mahal ot
palace. The hill has a perennial supply of water. Some
Bedars live half way up, and cultivate the fields below.

Borankanve Lake.—On the Sira-Banavar Road, 8 miles
cast of Huliyar. It was constructed in 1896 at a cost of
Rs. 2,81,003. It has an achkat of acres 1,163-0 and the
assessment levied amounts to Rs. 5,085. The bund is 30 feet
high and constructed across a gorge between two hills and
is a magnificent structure, impounding 8682 units of water
at Kodi level. The waterspread is over 3,320 acres.

Chennarayadu rga.—A hill fortress in Koratagere Taluk,
situated midway between Koratagere and Madhugiri and
rising to 3,744 feet above the sca. '

This is a fine mass of rock beautifully fortified by the

Madhugiri chief Chennappa-Gauda about the middle of the
17th century. In his family it remained for a long period
when it was taken by the Mahréattas, and Réma Ganda, at
that time the chief, took refuge in Madhugiri. In two years,
however, he retook it, but only to hold it for eight years
longer. It was then captured by Komaraiya, general of the

'Mysore Réja, and Dodds Arasu placed in charge. Its name
was also changed to Prasannagiri. Tt was subsequently
taken by Haidar, and after six years by the Mahréattas under
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Madhava Rao, and after a like period retaken by Tipu.
At the entrance are inscriptions of the Mahritta generals
Sripant pradhan and Madhava Rao Ballal pradhan. In
the latter, dated in 1766, the hill is called Chandrayadurga.,
It has two elevations. On the lower are situated the Chenniga-
raya and Isvara temples, as also a fine semi-circular done
with clear water. There are besides granaries and powder
magazines. There are several gates leading to the higher
elevation, which is aleo fortified with brick walls raised over
stone walls. The ascent is very steep and there is no flight
of steps. The village at the foot of the Lill, with a population
of 228, has also a few temples. A finc cave temple, rather
large and neatly kept, is known as the matha of Murarisvami
who is said to have been a great ascetic and is believed to
have gone to heaven with his body. The object of worship
here is a pair of sandals. The cave has also some yogamantapas
and cells. A samadhi or tumb near the cave is said to be that
of Vaikunthuppa, a disciple of Murari. There is also lower
down another samddhi, said to be of Annaplirnamma,
a female disciple of Murari, who was so named by her guru,
because she fed a large number of people with a seer of
rice.

Chiknayakanhalli.—A Taluk in the west. Area 43594
square miles. Head-quarters at Chiknayakanhalli. Contains
the following Hoblis, villages and population :—

2 Villages classified.
Hobli Villages | 8 ” Fopula-
obli lages Sarva.- hayam.| tion
« .
x Govt. manyal Jodi gutta
Chiknayakanhalli 39 181 36 3 12,451
Huliyar .- 57 35| b6 1 18,062
Handankere .. 56 40| 85 1 13,192
Kandikere .. 42 12| 41 . 1 .. 71,574
Settikere | 40 |23] 40 | .. |.. .. 9,219
Total .. 234 128 | 228 .. 6 . 60,498




v} TUMKUR DISTRICT 465

Principal places with population :—
Chiknayakanhalli 6,432, Huliyar 1,985, Settikere 1,718,
Kenkeri 1,689, Thimmenahalli 1,447, Kandikere 1,110 and
Yelanadu 938.

The east of the Taluk is crossed by three parallel chains of
low bare hills running north and south, the villages on both
sides of which carty the storm water which runs into a feeder
of Védavati in Sira Taluk. The Janchar range of hills con-
tains deposits of manganese and red and white ochre. The
lands in the valleys between these hills are fertile and contain
many cocoa-nut and areca-nut gardens. A stream starting
from the south of Settikere runs north to Huliyar and one
from Yelanadu runs north-west of Budihal to the Védavati
in Holalkere Taluk. From the humidity of the fogs which
form on the range of hills, the crops are often preserved from
fajlure in the dry season. The principal export trade is
confined to cocoa-nut and areca-nut.

The Revenue Settlement was introduced in 1879 and
Rosurvey Settlement was introduced for 126 villages in the
year 1905-06, 72 villages in the year 1920 and 30 villages
during the year 1920-21.

The total Revenue Demand for the year 1922-23
was Rs. 1,82,018-3-10 and for the year 1923-24 was
Rs. 1,82,924-14-11.

The average rainfall at Chiknayakanhalli for 28 years
(1897 to 1924) and at the other places for three years (1922
to 1924 up to Decemher) was as follows :—-

. Month
Rain gauge
Station —
Jan. {Feb. [ Mar. | April | May |June |July
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Chiknayakanhalli .. | 08 { -19{ <39 |1-32 }3-44 | 2-45 2-73
Huliyar .. ] 07T .. 26| 1-86 | 3-26 1 1-35 | 2:65
Borankanve R S v ‘37 11-39|3-46 | -98|1-79
Mathigatta . 16 -04 231255 1316|109 |26

M, GR. VOL. V. o
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Month—concld. :
Rain gauge Station Year ;
Aug. | Sept. | Oct. |Nov. | Dec.
9 | 10| 11 | 12 | 13 14

Chiknayakanhalli 2.6915.7315.19] 2.46 A8 1 27.44 } v
Huliyar 2.55(1.15|1.563.86| .03| 18,95

Borankanve .46 11.88|1.68|4.62| .8 16.80

Mathigatta .. 1.9 | 2.58 | 3.92 | 3.26 04 | 21.47 I
i

From Banasandra Railway station there is a road north
to Chiknayakanhalli and Huliyar, from which place roads
radiate eastwards to Sira, north to Hiriyur, north-west tc
Hosadurga and to Banaver, west and south-west to Honna-
vally and the Konehalli Railway station.

Chiknayakan-  Chiknayakanhalli,-—A town situated in 13° 25’ N. Lat.,

halli,

76° 4’ E. Long., west-north-west of Tumkur, onthe Turvekere-

Hulivar road, 8 miles north of the Bangalore-Skimoga road,
and 11 miles north of the Banasandra Railway station. Head-
quarters of the Taluk of the same name and a Municipality.

Population in 1921 Males Females Total
Hindus including Jains 2,905 2,828 5,733
Muhammaeadans .. .. 359 319 678
Christians .s . 12 9 21
Total .. | 3,276 3,156 6,432
)

Chiknayakanhalli derives its name from Chikka-nayaka one
of the Chiefs of the Hagalvadi house. Thetown was plundered
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and the fort was destroved by the Mahrattas under Parasu
Ram Bhao, when marching to join the army of Lord Corn-
wallis before Seringapatam. The residents, it is =aid, fore-
seeing the trcatment the town would receive, had hidden
their most valusble effects and retired to the neighbouring
hills. But they were not destined thus to escape. For when
the Mahratta army returned to Sira, the wealthy inhabitants
were enticed to return by assurances of protection and by a
daily distribution of charitv to Brahmans, The leading men
were then seized and forced by torture to disclose Where their,
treasures were hid. Plunder to the value of Rs. 3,00,000
thus fell into the hands of the Mahrattas, '
The town is a prosperous one, surrounded on all sides by
plantations of cocoa-nut and areca palms. Their produce,
together with the coarge cotton cloths, white and coloured and
hamblis manufactured in the place, are largely sold at the
weekly fair. Many of the inhabitants act as carriers to the
merchants of Bangalore, Kadur and Hassan. Seven of the
temples are endowed with land or mouey, the principal being
one dedicated to Anjangya. The town is dependent on the
‘tank for fresh water and wells in the Musafirkhana and
near Thatbayyana Gori (the tomb of 2 Muhammadan
Saint).

The Venkataramana temple at this place is the largest and
finest of the Dravidian structures in the town. It stands on a
raised terrace like Hoysala buildings and is enclosed by a large
prakira of which only the plinth is now left. The pillars of
the navaranga are scultpured on all sides, some of the sculptures
being ingenious combinations of animals such as an elephant
and bull with one head, and so on. One of the pillars shows
a chief seated on a throne holding a lotus in the right hand, the
panel above having.the figure of a seated sanydst holding the
triple stafl (tridanda). On two pillars of the porch facing each
other are sculptured figures of Rama and Lakshmana. The
town has two Anjanéya temples—the Huleyur Anjanéya and
the Brahmapuri Anjanéya, the latter so called because 1t is
situated in the Brahman street. The former is a big temple richly
endowed and visited by a large number of devotees. The

0%



468 MYSORE GAZETTEER [vor.

Ramésvara temple is also a large Dravidian structure. said to have
been built by a Hagalvadi chief. The sukhanass entrance has a
figure of Ganapati to the right and Bhairava to the left. The
left pillar in front of this entrance has a well carved seated figure,
about 1} feet high, in the attitude of meditation, wearing a snake-
ear-ring. Judging from the ornaments on the feet, hands and
neck, it does not look like a. rishi. The opposite pillar has a
standing male figure, about 2} feet high, with folded hands,
which is supposed to represent the chief who built the temple.
There is also a similar figure on one of the pillars of the porch,
Other sculptures worthy of notice are Vyéaghrapada worshipping
a linga and the hunter Kannappa piercing his eye with an
arrow and kicking a linga. The Rudrésvara temple has a figure
of Virabhadra flanked by Bhadrakali and Daksha with a modern
ingeription on the brass-plate of the pedestal. The Késava
temple bears an inscription atating that it was built to commemo-
rate the installation of the Mysore king Chémarajéndra-Wodeyar
in 1881. The Kannappa shrine has an old wooden doorway
elegantly carved with human and animal figures. To its left
is a linga cell on the back wall of which is carved a figure of
Kannappa armed with a bow worshipping a linga. The village
goddess (grama-dévate), Hirimavarada Yallamma, is a wooden
figure, also known as Rénukadévi with a stone head set up in
front. The processional image is a wooden figure of of Parasurama,
son of Rénuka. To the right of Yallamma is a seated stone
figure, about 1 foot high, of J amadagni, husband of Rénuka with
two hands, the right in.the abkaya pose and the left placed on
the thigh. Outside the temple are two small shrines containing
round stones said to represent Matangi and her son Patappa.
It is stated that once a year a member of a certain family in
the town is made to sit on a diagram drawn in front of Patappa
and that soon after, possessed by the goddess, he runs uncon-
sciously to the particular house where the victim kid is kept,
brings it to the temple and tears it to pieces with his

teeth.

Municipal Funds 1920-21 1921-22 | 1923-24 | 1923-24
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
Income 6,567 8,398 7,290 6,740
Expenditure 6,642 7,460 7,068 8,142
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Dabbegatta.—A village in Chiknayakanahalli Taluk.
Population 477.

The Mahalingésvara temple at this place, a brick structure
of the 13th century, has three cells with lingas. In oneof
the two inscriptions discovered near it, the lingas are named
Hoysalésvara, Brabmésvara and Machésvara. The Marula-
siddhésvara temple has a panel carved with two standing
male figures, about 1} feet high, wearing long coats, with
an intervening head. The figure to the left is Marulasiddba,

Dabbegatta

that to the right Révanasidda, and the head Allama. All .

the three were Virasaiva teachers of about the time of Basava.
The processional god is a bull which is taken out in a car once
a year. The temple has a Bilvavriksha-vahana, that is, a
vohicle in the shape of a bilva or Bael tree. There are also

in the village a number of samadhis cr tombs of bulls dedicated
to temples.

Devarayadurga.—A fortified hill 9 miles east of Tumkur,
situated amidst wild and picturesque scenery and extensive
forest. It consists of three distinct terraces or elevatiors, and
is well supplied with springs. Near the summit, which is 3,940
feet above the level of the sea, is a small temple, connected
with the principal onc on the lower level, dedicated to Durga-
Narasimha. On the intermediate terrace are three Kuropean
houses, forming a retreat for the hot weather. The forti-
fications are carried round the three elevations, and must in
former days have been of considerable strength.

Tradition relates that a robber chief named Andhaka or
Lingaka had his stronghold here, and that he was subdued by
Sumati, a prince whose father, Hémachandra, was king of
Karnita and ruled in Yadupatna. On thus accomplishing the
enterprise on which he had been sent, Sumati is related to have
established the city of Bhumandana near the present Nelaman-
gela (Bangalore District), and taken up his residence there for
the protection of that part of his father’s kindgom.

Under the Hoysalas there seems to have been on the hill
a town called Anebiddasari or Anebiddajari, which long gave
its name to the surrounding district, especially the country to

Devaraya-
durga.
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the west and south. The name means ‘““‘the steep where the
elephant fell,” and the incident out of which it arose appears
to have happened at a spot on the hill now known as Anegondi,
or the elephant pit, below the peak called Karigiri, or the elephant
hill. A rogue elephant, which the Sthala Purana describes as
a Gandhorva who had assumed that form, suddenly appeared
before the town, to the great consternation of the people, and
after doing considerable mischief to the tank there, madly tried
to walk up the steep rock on the west, when he slipped, fell back,
and was killed. The hill is accordingly called Karigiri in the
Purana. Under the Vijayanagar kings, the use of the same name
continued, and a large tank named Bukkasamudra, after one of
the earliest of them, was formed by throwing an embankment
across the gorge from which the Jayamangali river has its source.
Remains of the embankment and of the adjacent town can
still be traced. ’

The fortifications are pierced through by seven gates.
On the lowest elevation are situated the village Malapattana
and the Lakshminarasimha temple. The latter is a Dravidian
structure facing east and is said to have been built by Kanthirava-
Narasa-Raja I. From the inscriptions Twmkur 41 and 42, we
learn that the enclosure and tower were repaired in 1858 by the
Mysore king Krishna-Raja-Wodeyar III. An annual jatre or
great festival takes place in the month of Chaitra (April) at which
thousands of people collect together, and there are many cells -
and mantapas built for accommodating them. The temple has
jewellery and other property of the value of Rs. 10,000. It
has also large vessels presented by the svamis of the Vyasardya
and Kundaur mathas. It enjoys an annual grant of Rs. 848,
There is also another temple, said to be older than the Lakshmi-
narasimha, dedicated to Hanuman, also known as Sanjivaraya,
who stands with folded hands. On the wall of what is known as
the Penugonda Gate is sculptured a figure holding a vine or
lute in the right hand with a label (Twmkur 40) in characters of
about the 15th century stating that the figure represents the
musician Viriipanna, son of Sukumiradéva. Near Ane-done
or the Elephant-spring are seen the remains of the tomb of an
elephant, said to have been built by a former chief. The place
was originally krown as Anebiddasari or ““the precipice wkere
the elephant fell,” then as Jadakanadurga, after a chief named
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Jadaka, and finally as Dévarayadurga, after its capture in 1696
by the Mysore king Chikka-Déva-Rija-Wodeyar. He erected
the existing fortifications. On the slope of the hill is a pond
which is said to be the source of the stream Mangali. Higher up
is a small spring named Jaya-tirtha which represents the source
of another stream Jaya. Both the streams unite at Irukasandra
at the foot of the hill and form the Jayamangali. A small
shrine in the jungle has a seated figure, about 1 foot high, of
Rimanujachirya, locally known as Kannappadévaru or Katteé-
manedévaru, which is the tutelary deity of the Nayakamakkalu or
hunters. On the intermediate elevation are situated the Govern-
ment Travellers’ Bungalow and another bungalow owned by the
Missionaries. Here are a well and two dones or springs, the
latter known as Rama-tirtha and Dhanus-tirtha. Near at hand
is & large cave with figures of Rima, Sita and Lakshmana. There
are also remains of dwelling houses and offices which once stood
here. On the third elevation stands, facing east, a temple of
Lakshminarasimba, known as the Kumbhi (summit) Narasimha
temple, which consists of a garbhagrika, a sukhanasi, a navaranga,
a mukha-mantapa and a porch and is similar in plan to the
temple below. Near the temple is a large done, to the south of
which is a narrow cave with a flight of steps leading to a reservoir
at the bottom known as Pida tirtha, which is said to issue from
the foot of the god. Higher up above the temple is a small
shrine of Garuda near which is a big boulder known as Divige-
gundu (or the lamp boulder) on which an iron lamp with a long
shaft is fixed. This lamp, lighted occasionally by devotees in
fulfilment of vows, is said to be visible to Bangalore and other
distant places. In the rampart on the hill, a hole is pointed out
as having been caused by a gun-shot from the opposite hill
known as Parangi-betta.

At some distance from Devarayadurga is situated, by the
side of the Tumkur road, the Forest Lodge near which is a tiny
spring of pellucid water known as Namada-tirtha which issues
from the living rock and fillsand overflows a mortar cut in therock.

Dodda-Bidare.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli Taluk.
Population 385.

The Isvara temple at this place has in the navaranga several
figures such as Sarasvati,Mahishasuramardini, Umamahésvara,
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etc., among which a two-armed Durga with a sword in
the right hand and a cup in the left and a fine Naga stone
deserve notice. The Pate-linga temple has for objects of
worship 101 small stones of irregular shape placed on the
ground, known as Nirondu (101) linga. In front of it is an
open mantapa containing a rough stone called Pate (for Patala)
linga. In the porch of the Anjanéya temple at Chikka-
Bidare are set up against the wall figures of Ganapati,
Bhairava and Vishnu and two fine Naga stones, which
apparently belonged to some Siva temple.

Dodda-Dalavatta.—A village in Madhugiri Taluk.
Population 415.

The l.akshminarasimha temple at this place is one of
the largest Dravidian structures with an extensive prakare,
measuring 125 yards by 70 yards, and a lofty mahddvara
surmounted by a gopura. To the right in the prakara is a
satra or choultry for accommodating and feeding pilgrims
during the car-festival which takes place on a grand scale
in the month of Ashddha (July.) Bullock carts can go in-
side the mahddvdra and stand in the enclosure. There is a
fine pond near the outer gate. The god, said to be udbhava-
mirti, is a small round stone standing a few inches above
the ground level and adorned with a crown. In the open
navaranga of the Isvara temple to the north, is kept a well
carved Gajalakshmi panel, which evidently belongs to some
other temple, '

Dore-Gudda.—A hill in the Gubbi Taluk, of which there
is a tradition that, owing to extensive excavations for the
oxtraction of iron ore, it fell in, burying the miners of seven
villages with all their cattle. It is still one of the principal
sources whence the ore is obtained.

Dummanhalli. —A village in the Turuvekere Sub-
Taluk. Popnlation 194.

It appears to be an ancient village. It was, according
to tradition, the capital of a chief known as Dummi Wodeyar.
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(old coins are said to be occasionally picked up in a field to
the west of the village. Among the ancient litkic records
recently copied here by the Archsological Department is
a viragal of the Ganga period.

Edeyur.—A village in Kunigal Taluk. Population 511.

The Siddhalingésvara temple at this place, facing north,
is a pretty large Dravidian building containing the gaddige
or tomb of Tontada-Siddhalinga, a great Virasaiva teacher
and author who flourished at the close of the 15th century.
He was one of the svamis of the Murugi matha and had a
large number of disciples of whom several have written
Kannada works bearing on the Virasaiva creed, his own
being Shatsthalajnanasaramria. '

In the veranda to the right of the mahddvdra of the temple
is the inscription E. C. XII, Kunigal 49, which gives an account
of the spiritual greatness of the teacher and records the con-
struction of a matha, the temple itself, by Chennavirappa-wodeyar
of Danivasa. To the right of the inscription stands a slab,
about 6 feet high, carved at the top with a figure of Siddhalinga,
a seated image with a linga in the left hand, the right hand
being raised in the mode of offering worship, and below with a
standing couple with folded hands, evidentlyrepresenting Chenna-
virappa-wodeyar and his wife Parvatamma mentioned in the
inscription as the domors of the matha. The ceiling of the
mahadvara is decorated with paintings of the ashta-dikpalakas
or regents of the eight directions. In the east of the enclosure
is an underground cell containing a figure of Rudrésvara or
Virabhadra, which is said to have been there before the found-
ation of the matka. The ceilings of the mukha-mantapa and
the patalankana or hall on a lower level bave painted on them
gcenes from the life of Siddhalings and the panchavimsali or
twenty-five lilas or sports of Siva with labels in Kannada in the
form of explantory notes. On the gaddige is a lump of wbhats
or sacred ashes in the shape of a linga covered by a silver kolaga
or mask, above which is kept the processional image, a metallic
figure of Siddhalinga, resembling the stone figure at the maha-
dvara. The temple has a Rudrakshi-mantapa and several other

vizhanas or vehicles, and judging from the gold and silver jewels
and vessels, seems to be a rich one. The inscriptions on the -

Edeyur.
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bells are of some interest as they tell us that they were presents
from a Muhammadan Amildar during Tipu’s rule. One of them,
however, tells us besides that the bell bearing it was presented
by Minakshamma, wife of Dalavayi Basavardja-arasu, and there
1s a story that the bells were thrown into a well during a Muham-
madan incursion and that they were subsequently restored to
the temple by the Muhammadan Amildar with inscriptions
newly engraved on them. The temple owns a good car with
six stone wheels, the car festival taking place on the seventh
lunar day of the bright fortnight of Chaitra (April).

There is also in the village an uyyale-kamba about 20 feet
high. Close to the temple is a Lingayat matha, affiliated to the
Balehalli matha, in which the Balehalli svami is said to take up
his residence for a few months every year. Another Lingiyat
matha at some distance is known as Chitra-matha because its
veranda was once adorned with paintings. In front of this
is a beautiful well built with well-dressed vertical slabs all ronnd
and adorned with a well-carved stone parapet.

There is also a Varadardja temple here which is in a dila-
pidated condition.

Kaggere is the place where Siddhalinga is said to have been
absorbed in the practice of ydga or meditation, so much so that
ant-hills grew around him. There is a temple outside the village
said to have been built over the spot where he practised yaga.
the place having once been a garden, which accounts for the
word T'ontada (of the garden) prefixed to his name. In the
gurbhagriha 18 an embankment, known as yoga-pitha, on which
is kept a small linga covered with a mask. The processional
image, resembling that at Edeyur, is kept in a shrine at the
village. In the navaranga is kept a good Rudrikshi-mantapa,
said to have been presented by a lady of Coorg. In a niche over
the roof of the veranda is a stucco figure, seated in the midst of
ant-hills, of Siddhalinga, similar to the stone figure at Edeyur.
The car festival takes place on the seventh lunar day of the
bright fortnight of Phalguna (March).

Elanadu.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli Taluk. Popu-
lation 938.

The Siddharamésvara temple at this place is a large Dra-
vidian building with two mahadvaras on the east and south.
The ceilings of the south porch were once painted with
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figures, most of which have now gone. The Virasaiva teacher
Siddbarama is said to have performed penance here. The
god worshipped in the temple is an ant-hill which is decorated
and given the appearance of a linga. The processional god
is also a silver linga. The temple appears to be a rich one,
judging from the silver-plated doors, doorways and palan-
keens, and silver staves, chauris, vessels and other para-
phernalia. It has also a fine Bilvavriksha-vahana in the
shape of a car, adorned with painted images, etc. The
car-mantapa surmounted by a tower is a neat structure with
a flight of steps. The village has also a Lingayat matha,
which is a branch of the matha at Godekere in the same
taluk. '

Elusuttinakote.—A village in Madhugiri Taluk.
According to tradition, the Pandavas lived here for some
time in a fort of seven walls built by them, and the inscription
names them along with Abhimanyu.

Garudachala.—A stream which rises on the frontier of
the District, south-east of the Dévarayadurga group of hills,
and flowing north into Koratigere, unites with the Jaya-
mangali near Holavanhalli or Korampur.

Gonitumkur,—A village in the Turuvekere Sub-Taluk.
Population 545.

This has a small Isvara temple in the Hoysala style, con-
sisting of a garbhkagriha, an open sukhanasi and a navararga.
The two former have each a ceiling with a lotus bud, the
latter having nine ceilings of the same kind. In the nava-
ranga are kept figures of Ganapati and Sarasvati and a good
Niaga stone. The outer walls have only pilasters. There
is a stone tower over the garbhagriha. The village has three
viragals of the Hoysala period which are completely worn,
only a few letters here and there being legible.

Gubbi.—A taluk in the middle. Area 55227 sq. miles.

Elusuttina-
kote.

Carudachala.

Gonitumkur,

Gubbi.
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Head-quarters at Gubbi. Contains the following hoblis,
villages and population :—

Hoblis Villages | Population

1. Chittanahalli .. .. .. 51 14,967
2. Gubbi .. . .. .. 52 20,232
3. Chelur e .. .. .. 62 13,503
4. Hagalvadi e .. . 54 8,289
6. Nittur .. . .. e 80 15,712
6. Kadaba .. .. .. .. 63 17,146
7. Dandinasivara .. . . 61 13,092

Total . 423 1,062,941

Principal places with population :—

Chittanahalli 1,291 ; Gubbi 5,244 ; Chelur 1,426 ; Bidare
1,276 ; Hagalvadi 1,622; Nittur 1,182; Muganayakankote
1,321 ; Kadaba 1,621 ; Kallur 1,737 ; Kondajji 1,033 ; Dandi-
nasivara 1,228,

The taluk till 1886 was called Kadaba. It is watered by
the Shimsha, which flows through the middle from north to
south, past Gubbi and Kadaba, where it forms a very large
tank. At Kallur it is joined by the Naga from the west,
and continues south, On the north-west of the taluk are
the chains of bare hills separating Hagalvadi from Chik-
nayakanhalli, which belong to the auriferous tract. The
remainder of the taluk is generally an open country and well
watered. The soil is mostly a red mould, shallow and gravelly.

The revenue settlement was introduced in 1882 and the
revision settlement into 93 villages in 1910-11.

The railway from Bangalore to Poona crosses the taluk
from east to west, somewhat south of the middle, with stations
at Gubbi, Nittur, and Yelladbagi. The Bangalore-Shimoga
trunk road runs nearly alongside the railway, and at Nittur
is crossed by a road running north to Sira, and south by
Nelligere to Seringapatam. There is also a road from Gubbi
south-east to Hebbur, and one from Hagalvadi, running east
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through Chelur and Bellavi to Tumkur. There is also a
road connecting Hagalvadi with the road to Huliyar.

Gubhbi.—An important trading place, situated in 12° 19" N.
lat., 77° E. long., 13 miles west of Tumkur, on the Bangalore-
Poona railway and the Bangalore-Shimoga road. Head-
quarters of the Gubbi taluk, and a municipality.

Population in 1921 Males Females Total

Hindus .. .. .. 2,237 2,206 4,442
Muhammadans .. .o .. 370 274 644
Christians .. .. .. 41 33 1
Jains ‘e .- .. 55 48 103
Total .o 2,703 2,560 5,263

It is the entrepét for the areca-nut trade between the
Nagar Malnad and Wallajapet in the North Arcot District,
as well as for the wolagra or internal trade of the neighbour-
hood. It is said to have been founded over 400 years ago by
the Gauda of Hosahalli, two miles distant, and called Amara-
gondapura. He claimed to be a descendant of Honnappa
Gauda, hereditary chief of the Nonaba Vokkaligas, who
lived 700 years ago and owned a district yielding a revenue
of 3,000 pagodas. The family were first made tributary by
the Mysore Rajas, to whom they paid 500 pagodas a year.
Haidar increased the tribute to 2,500, leaving them little
better than renters, and Tipu dispossessed them altogether.
They are now in the position of ordinary cultivators, but
their rank is acknowledged in their own caste.

Gubbi formerly suffered much from the party spirit of the
contending sects of Komatis and Banjagas or Lingdyats, and
was at one time in imminent danger of abandonment from
this cause. During the administration of Pirnaiya, the
erection of a temple by the Komatis to a virgin who had
cast herself into the flames to avoid dishonour excited the
previous animosity of the opposite party to such a degree

Gubbi.
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that the town was ordered to be divided by a wall in order to
separate the quarters of the two factions. An Amildar was
at length chosen from the party which appeared least in the
wrong, and with the help of the Brahmans and peaceably
disposed inhabitants, order was gradually restored, although
the extreme measure of slaughtering an ass in the main
street was threatened. which would have compelled all Hindus
to apandon the town.

At Gubbi is one of the chief annual fairs in the country
frequented by merchants from great distances. The neigh-
hourhood produces coarse cotton cloths, both white and
coloured, blankets, sack-cloth, areca-nut of the kind called
wolagra (or neighbouring), cocoa-nuts, jaggory, tamarind,
capsicum, wheat, rice, ragi, and other grains ; lac, steel,
and iron ; all of which here find a ready sale or exchange, as
the imports are large, and it is an intermediate mart for all
goods passing through the peninsula in almost every direction.

Of the coarse cloths made in the vicinity by the Devangas,
Togatas and Holeyas, 100 pieces on the average are sold at
each fair, representing an annual value of about 15,000
rupees. There are, however, many other fairs in the surround-
ing country where these products are also sold to a consider-
able extent.

Gubbi is, according to tradition, Amaragundakshétra,
the holy place where Amaragunda Mallikarjuna, a Virasaiva
teacher who was a contemporary of Basava, is supposed to
have lived for some time and died. It is stated that two
gubbachchis or sparrows, which used to listen to him when
expounding the Purdnas, fell dead on the day that the ex-
‘position was concluded. Thenceforward the place acquired
the name Gubbi, which has been Sanskritised into Chataka-
_puri.

The oldest temple in the town is the Gadde Mallgsvara, so
called because it was once situated in a gadde or wet field outside
the village. Owing, however, to the subsequent extension of
the village, the temple now stands within the village itself. It
has three cells in the navaramga enshrining Dakshinamiirti,



v] TUMKUR DISTRICT 479

Parvati and Virabhadra. There are also two niches containing
Ganapati and Subrahmanya. Leaning against. the south wall
near the Dakshindmiirti cell, are some curious figures, namely,
a rude male figure armed with a bow and an arrow, said to re-
present a Saiva devotee named Ohila, vulgarly called Vailappa,
who used to offer every day his own weight of guggala or bdellium
to Siva ; a well carved seated female figure, about one foot high,
with some indistinct things in the two hands; and two male
figures, about one foot high, standing side by side with what looks
a vessel between the hands placed one over the other, two sticks
or spears standing between them. A cell in the north of the
navaranga has a linge called Ramalingésvara, said to have been
set up by Rama on his return from Lanka. To the left of the
entrance to this cell is a small Basava or bull seated on the top
of a short pillar, known as Gubbachchihakkibasava, which is
said to have been set up to mark the spot where, as stated above,
the two gubbachchis fell dead at the conclusion of Amaragunda
Mallikarjuna’s exposition of the Puranas. Gubbi was a place of
great literary activity in the 15th and 16th centuries. Several
Kannada works bearing on the Virasaiva cult were written dur-
ing this period. Mallanna, the author of the Ganabhashyaratna-
male and other works, who flourished at the close of the 16th
century, was a native of Gubbi and a lineal descendant of Amara-
gunda Mallikdarjuna. His grandson, Gubbi Mallanirya, wrote
the poems Bhavackintaratna and Viraseswamrita-purana in 1513
and 1530 respectively. Prabhuga, a disciple of Mallanirya,
wrote in about 1520 the Chudanasthana and the Vaibhigraja-
sthana ; and Cherama, another disciple of his, composed the
Cheramanka-charite in 1526. Mallanarya’s son Santa wrote
the Suddhésvara-purana in 1561. Enquiries have been made
as to the existence of any tradition with regard to the locality
where Mallanna and his descendants lived, but no information
has been forthcoming.

The Vailappa (for Ohilappa) temple has a standing figure,
about 2 feet high, of the Saiva devotee Ohila, holding a censer
in the right hand and a bell in the left. Tradition has it that the
tongue of his bell having fallen here, the devotee took up his
residence at Gubbi. The Gubbiyappa temple is a large structure
containing the gaddige or tomb of Gubbiyappa or Chenna-
basavayya, a Virasaiva teacher who lived during the rule of .
Mummadi Honnappa-Gauda, the Pilegir of Hosahalli. The
gaddige has a linga and above it a seated metallic figure, above
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14 feet high, holding a linga in the left hand, the right hand being
raised over it in the mode of offering worship. This represents
Chennabasavayya and is the processional image of the temple.
The ceilings of the mukha-mantapa or front hall have paintings
representing Siva’s twenty-five lilas or sports. To the left of the
temple is a large kalyant or pond built, according to the inscription
on the pediment of its doorway, by one Adavi-svami in 1896. The
pond has niches on the surrounding wall intended for enshrining
the 63 devotees of Siva, but owing to the death of Adavi-svami
the work has been left unfinished. An annual festival on a large
scale takes place in honour of Gubbiyappa. The Janirdana
temple has a four-armed figure, about four feet high, of the god
bearing in the upper hands a discus and a conch and in the
lower left a mace, the lower right which is in the abhaya attitude
holding a tiny lotus. In a cell to the right in the navaranga
is kept a standing metallic figure, said to be Kanyakaparamésvari,
holding a lotus in one of the hands like a nachchiydr or consort
of Vishnu. The Béteraya temple enshrines a figure, about 2}
feet high, of Vishnu, holding in the upper hands a discus and a
conch, in the lower right an arrow and in the lower left a2 bow.
Being represented as a hunter with the attributes, the bow and
the arrow, the god has the word béte (hunting) in his name. An
old inscription of the Ganga period is to be seen at the first
sluice of the Gubbi tank. A sannad issued by Pirnaiya in 1801
to the Khdji of Gubbi is of some interest.

M;\‘;;ﬁg’a’ 1919-20 | 1020-21 | 1lo21-22 | 1922-23 | 1923-24
Income 10,474 6,469 7,468 | 5,626 5,530
Expenditure | 6,380 6,240 | 112229 | 9488 6,203

Gundalhalli,—A village in Pavugada Taluk. Population
864.

The top slab of the fine sluice of Doddakere at this place
has a discus and a conch made of black stone fixed at the sides.
On a rough boulder on the bund of the tank are engraved the
inscriptions E. C. XII. Pavagada 11-13. The date assigned of
these records in the Tumkur volume of the Epigraphia
Carnatica, wz., Circa 1530, is evidently a mistake, seeing that
the characters are unquestionably of the 8th century as
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evidenced by the square form of ba used in them. The eyclic
year Jaya given in one of the records most probably cor-
responds to A.D. 764. The tank is named Akale-samudra
after a lady Akaleti who built it. It is thus one of the oldest
tanks in the State, though Panamankere at Talgunda,
Shikarpur Taluk, is older still by about two centuries. In
the prakara of the Isvara temple, on the bund of Chikkakere
at the same village, siands a stone, about 9 feet high, with
several curves in the form of a snake, and the villagers
firmly believe that there is treasure below it. No such stone
has been met with elsewhere. At the Rimadéva shrine, which
1is 4 large cave containing some small stones dubbed with
white earth and red ochre, two epigraphic records have been
recently discovered. The Anjangya temple has a very large
figure, about ten feet high, of the god.

Hagalvadi.—A village in the Gubbi Taluk, 25 miles
north-east of the kasba. Population 1622.

Lingayats and Kurubas are the prevailing classes in the
place. The chief produce of the neighbourhood is areca-nut,
and inferior kumblis are manufactured. It was the original
possession of the line of chiefs named from it, who ‘built
Chiknayakanhalli and owned all the west of the District.
These chiefs are mentioned in Chikndyakanhalli 38 dated
in 1669 A.D. They received their estate from the Vijaya-
nagar king Venkatapati-Raya. The succession mentioned
is Suli Nayaka, his son Sangappa, his son Chenna Basavappa
-and his son Badu Timmappa Nayaka. When subdued by
the Mysore Réja, these chiefs gave up the rest of their territory
in order to retain Hagalvadi free of tribute. Haidar Al
subsequently compelled them to pay for this also, and his
son dispossessed them altogether.

Hale-Itakalota.—A village in Madhugiri Taluk.
Population 200.

~ The god in the Anjangya temple at this place is a good

figure with a small monkey shown to the left as eating
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something. To the left of the temple is a stone sculptured
with a female figure seated with the right hand seizing on
what looks like a pole fastened with ropes. The figure is
said to represent Dombara-Chinni (or Chinni of the sect
of Dombas or tumblers) who fell from the pole and died.
It appears that even now when Dombas visit the village,
they do not as usual fix a pole but perform on the ground
after praying to the image.

Hanchihalli—A village in Koratagere Sub-Taluk.
Population 475.

This village has a ruined fort, as also the hill near it krown
as Urugutte. At some distance to the north of the village
is a mastikal showing an arm and hand projecting from an
upright post, with figures of the couple sculptured below.
The villagers believe that the stone represents Vyasana-tdlu
(or Vyasa’s arm). When only one hand projects from the
post, the stone is known as Okkaimaisti; when two hands
project, it is known as Ikkai-masti, the number of hands
representing the number of wives who became satis.

Hebbur.—A large village in the Tumkur taluk, 15 miles
south of Tumkur, on the road to Kunigal. Population, 2,021.

The place is said to have been founded by two brothers
named Hale Gauda and Timme Gauda. It was at first called
Heb-huli (great or royal tiger), from the circumstance that a
bullock attacked by a tiger had driven it off and pursued it,
with the other cattle and their owners, until it was killed.
The courage of the cattle was attributed to the peculiar virtue
of the spot, pointing it out as suitable for the construction
of a fort. Accordingly, the carcass of the tiger being burnt,
the limits of the fort were marked out with its ashes, and
the erection was completed with the countenance of the
Vijayanagar king. The name was subsequently changed
from Hebhuli to Hebbur, the great town, and Katti Kimanna
was appointed as the king’s agent, Hale Gauda and Timme
Gauda being made patels of Hebbur, Kallesapura and
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Ramanhalli. The agent, however, instead of supplying his
patron’s exchequer, spent the public money in erecting
temples, forming tanks, etc. For his insolence, on being
summoned to court to account for his proceedings, he was
condemned to have both his eyes put out and to be expelled
from the royal territories. A descendant of the Gaudas was
next placed in charge, but after Vijayanagar was taken by the
Muhammadans, Kempe Gauda of Magadi captured Hebbur,
and held it for many years. It was then taken by the Chik-
nayakanhalli chief, and from him by Chikka-Déva-Raja of
Mysore. A quarter of a century later, it again changed hands,
falling a prey to the Mughal army, but in course of time was
regained by the Mysore Rajas. For two years before the
usurpation of Haidar Ali, again, it was in the hands of the
Mahrattas. The place has thus seen many vicissitudes.

Heggere.—-A village in Tiptur taluk. Population 410.
About seven miles from Huliyar.

At this place, there are buildings in the Hoysala style—
three Siva temples and a basti. Of the former, situated near one
another and in a dilapidated condition, the middle one, known
as the Kallésvara, is the largest, consisting of a garbhagriha,
a sukhanasi and a navarenga, the other two, situated to its right
and left, having only a garbhagrika and a sukhanasi. It faces
south, though the linga in it faces east, the east wall having a
perforated window opposite to it. The sukhanast doorway
has perforated screens at the sides and Gajalakshmi on the
lintel. The navaranga has only one ceiiing, about two feet deep,
in the centre, which has a lotus bud with three concentric rows
of painted petals. The garbhagriha and sukhanasi have also
similar ceilings. It is worthy of note that the paint is not gone
though the temple goes back to at least 1232 A.D. (Chiknayakana-
hallt 27), if not to an earlier period. The navaranga has a good
figure of Sarasvati and a few fine Néga stones, besides two
pedestals, one of Vishnu and the other probably of Mahisha-

suramardini. An inscription is to be seen on the figure of Sara-

svati. The temple to the left known as the Galagésvara is the
most ornate of the three. The sukhanasi has an exquisitely
carved doorway with beautiful perforated screens at the sides,

31*
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the lintel having a well carved Gajalakshmi in the middle and
lions pouncing upon elephants at the ends. The pediment has
rows of minutely carved figures illustrating scenes from the
Ramayana, while every square of the screens has tiny figures
representing the ten incarnations of Vishnu, the regents of the
eight directions and so forth. The sukhanasi ceiling, again,
shows excellent workmanship. Itis about two feet deep and has
in the middle panel Tandavésvara flanked by Ganapati and
Subrahmanya, in the upper, Parvati flanked by Sarasvati and
Lakshmi, and in the lower, Nandi flanked by Brahma and Vishnu.
AH the figures are represented as dancing. In the intersticesin
the eight directions, eight snake hoods are shown. The garbhagrika
ceiling has a lotus bud. The temple to the right has a tower over
the garbhagriha resembling those of the Lakshmidévi temple at
Dodda-Gaddavalli. The garbhagriha and sukhanast have domed
ceilings, about two feet deep, with lotus buds. The lingas have
been displaced in all the three temples. These buildings have been
under orders of Government conserved : the roofs have been
made water-tight, the walls repaired and new doors set up.
The Parasvanatha-basti, built of black stone, 1s a fine specimen
of Hoysala architecture, consisting of a garbhagrike, a sukhanasi
and a naveranga. It is an elegant structure possessing consider-
able architectural merit, being perhaps the only basts of its kind
in the State. The sukhanasi entrance has perforated screens
at the sides, its pediment too being a perforated screen. The
navaranga is supported by four good black stone pillars and its
central ceiling, about two feet deep, has a lotus bud, and is similar
to those of the garbkagrika and sukhanast, the other ceilings being
square and flat, adorned with lotuses of three concentric rows of
petals surrounded by knobs, except the one at the entrance which
has nine blown lotuses. The original Jina’image is gone and in
its place there is now a small figure of Anantandtha. The
outer walls have no figure sculpture, but only a row of fine
flowers of various patterns all round. The bastt was built in 1160
(Chiknayakanhalls 21) during the reign of the Hoysala king
Narasimha I by the mahdsamanta GGvidéva in memory of his
deceased consort Mahddévi-nayakitti and appears to form a
fit memorial to the lady by its simplicity and elegance. Near
the Siva temples stands a good mdstekal having a female figure,
about three feet high, with the right hand raised and open
holding a lime between the thumb and forefinger and the left
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hand. Flamesare shown around the head and a ginds or water-
vessel with a spout dangling at the side with a mirroris carved
to the right at the bottom.

Holavanhalli.—A village on the Jayamangali river, five
miles east of Korati-gere. Population, 2,183,

It is said to have been formerly called Korampur, the in-
habitants being a few persons of low caste whose chief was Holava
Gauda. To them Baire Gauda, one of the Kinchi refugees who
settled at Avati (Bangalore District), or a descendant of the
same name, proposed to establish a fort and pete at Korampur,
to which the peopie would agree only on condition that the place
should be called after their Gauda, whence its present name.
Baire Gauda became tributary to the Vijayanagar kings, and
obtained from thém a grant of 33 villages in Kolahalli and the
neighbourhood, together with other lands, yielding altogether
6,000 pagodas a year. During seven years Baire Gauda greatly
improved his estate, when it was seized by the chief of Magadi,
who placed his brother Ankana Gauda in charge of it. Seven
years later, it was taken by Havali Baiche Gauda of Dod-
Ballapur; but in two Years Dodballapur was itself captured
by the Nawab of Sira. Baire Gauda, who had joined the Sira
army, was killed in this enterprise, but Holavanhalli was restored
to his eldest son Dodda Baiche Gauda, with additions to the
estate, on condition of paying a tribute. The fort and pete of
Koratigere were built some time after by a member of this family,
and the hoblis of Gundakal, Iraksamudra, Sageri, Kolala and
Dasarahalli annexed, yielding altogether a revenue of 26,000
pagodas, subject to a tribute of 3,000 pagodas and the mainten-
ance of a military force. Some of these chiefs are mentioned in
inscriptions found in the District. In Moddagir: 32 dated in
1667, mention is made of Rana Baire Gauda II. Maddagiri
43 dated in 1634 isalso of his time. In Maddagirs 31 dated in
1656, Dodda Rana Baire Gauda makes a grant of a village and
of certain payments from the Panchalas and various trading
classes for the goddess Kalika .Kamatésvara Durga. Maddagirs
45 dated 1680 gives the succession Rana Bayiche Gauda’s grand-
son, Dasarahalli Bayicha Gauda’s son, Immadi Rana Bayire
Gauda. The local chiefs continued in possession as tributary,
successively, to the Mysore Rajas, the Mahrattas and the Nawab

Holavan-
balli.
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of Sira, and afterwards to Haidar Ali, on whose death, in 1782,
Holavanhalli was annexed to Mysore. In 1792 Lord Cornwallis
reinstated one of the family, named Dodda Rama Baire Gauda,
but on the withdrawal of the confederate forces, Tipu reduced
the place and resumed possession.

Honnavalli.—A village in the Tiptur taluk, eight miles
north-west of the kasba. Population 2,097.

The place derives its name from Honnu-amma, the tutelary
goddess, who in a vision directed Somésvara, one of the chiefs
of Harnhalli, (Hassan District), to found the town. It con-
taing many Brihmans, and is situated amid cocoa-nut plant-
ations, which produce a rare kind, named, from the delicious
milk contained in the young nut, the Ganga-pani, or water
of the Ganges. There is a village panchayet. The edu-
cational institutions are a Boys’ Middle School, Hindu Boys’
and Girls’ schools, Girls’ Kannada School and a grant-in-aid
Sanskrit school.

Honnebagi.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli Taluk.
Population 384.

At some distance from the village is a hill on which is
gituated a temple dedicated to Ranganatha. It is of some
interest to note that the p#@jar: of the god is a Lingayat and
that the Lingayats of the village conduct the annual car
festival of the god. The Timmappa temple at Dugudihalli
has a good figure, about 1} feet high, of Vishnu, which is like-
wise worshipped by Lingayats.

Hoshalli.—A village in Turuvekere Sub-Taluk. Popu-
lation 229.

The Kallésvara temple at this place is a Hoysala building
consisting of a garbhagriha, a sukhenasi and a navaranga.
The last has only one ceiling in the centre with a fine lotus
bud, the others too having similar ceilings. The navaranga
doorway is well carved and that of the sukhanasi has per-
forated screens at the sides. The village goddess, named
Hosahalliyamma, is a coloured stucco figure.
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Hulikunte.—A village in Koratagere Taluk. Populatioun
877. ‘ : _

A well executed mastskal was recently found in Nanjappa’s
back-yard at this place. It had been walled up, leaving just

the linga at the top visible. After dismantling the wall, the

slab was found to consist of thr#e panels. The top panel has

Hulikunte.

between the sun and moon two rearing cobras with a male figure -

standing to the left bearing a mace in the right hand and lifting
up something with the left. The middle panel has a linga in the
centre flanked on both sides by couples with folded hands, one

of the male figures being armed with bow and arrow and the

female figure of the couple to the right showing flames issuing -

from the head. The bottom panel has in the centre a standing

couple with an intervening sword, the female figures holding a
mirror in the left hand and a lime between the thumb and fore-
finger of the right hand. On both sides of the couple is a female
figure on horse-back holding a mirror and a lime. * This is very
peculiar : the women too seem to have taken part in fight. Both
must have become satis. The slab bears an inscription on it.
The hill known as Mukundarangana-gudda has on thetop asmall
temple adorned with a gopura or tower, the object of worship
being a round stone in the shape of a linga (lingakara). An old
viragal of the Ganga period is to be seen at Buruganhalli, close by.

Huliyar.— A town situated in 13° 35’ N. Lat., 76° 36’
E. long., 14 miles north by west of Chikniyakanhalli.
Population 1,985.

Huliyar was formerly the head-quarters of the Budihal
taluk, but in 1886 was made the chief town of the sub-taluk
named after itself. Inscriptions of the Chilukyas and other
remains indicate that the place may, in eariy times, have
been of some importance. Latterly, in the sixtecuth cen-
tury, it was included in the possessions of the chiefs of
Hagalvadi. It then passed into the hands of the Muham-
madans, and formed part of the province of Sira. Haidar
Ali subdued it in common with the rest of the District, and
thus annexed it to Mysore.

Huliyar.

The Ranganatha temple at this place must have been a .

good Hoysala structure, judging from the garbhagriha, which
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is the only portion now left of the original building, the other
portions being modern additions. The god, about five feet long,
is a well carved figure reclining on Adisésha, with Brahma seated
on the navel lotus and Sridévi and Bhiudévi seated with folded
hands at the head and feet respectively. Above the god is the
prabhavali carved with the ten incarnations of Vishnu, Buddha
being shown as the 9th incarnation. The ceiling of the garbha-
griha, about two feet deep, is carved with a lotus. In the sukhanasi
are kept a figure of an Alvar and a small figure of Dakshindmiirti
with the hand in the dhydna-mudra, flanked on the right by a
female figure offering something and on the left by a male figure
blowing some instrument. The processional image is also kept
here on a stone pedestal which once belonged to a Jaina temple
as is evidenced by an inscription discovered on it which states
that it was the pedestal of a Jina figure set up by Sriyadévi,
consort of Samanta-Gova. This image, as the inscription on
its pedestal informs us, was prepared quite recently, in 1903,
the old image having been stolen. The Ganapati shrine close
by has a well carved image, about five feet high, of the god with
a spirited rat on the pedestal. The right lower hand bears a
broken tusk and the left lower a fruit whose stalk is held by the
trunk. The Mallésvara temple is a small neat Hoysala building
with the tower and walls recently restored, the former with
_ sculptured pieces of granite and the latter with brick and

chunam. At the sides of the sukkhanasi entrance are perforated
screens and figures of Gapapati. The navaranga has, besides,
well carved figures of Saptamatrika and Sarasvati to the right
and of Nariyana flanked by consorts, Umdmahésvara with the
emblems Nandi and mungoose on the base and Sirya flanked
by female figures without bows, to the left. The ceilings, though
mostly flat, are exquisitely carved with lotuses having three con-
centric rows of petals. They are large square panels adorned
with knobs all round. The garbhagrika, sukhanasi and navaranga
central ceilings, about two feet deep, have blown lotuses; the
west ceiling has nine blown lotuses, and the one in the south-west,
perhaps the finest of all, has a swan carved on the under surface
of the lotus bud. Among the figures kept in the veranda of the
temple may be noticed a risht standing with a staff in the right
hand, and a man wearing a gonde (knot of hair) and uttariyam
and holding an elephant-goad in the right hand and a fruit in
the left. It is not clear whom the second figure represents. The
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village isstrewn over with the architectural members and carvings
of Hoysala buildings. A copper-plate received from the Virakta-
matha has been transcribed by the Archeological Department.

Huliyurdurga.—A town in the Kunigal taluk, 40 miles
south of Tumkur, at the junction of roads from Kunigal and
Magadi. Head-quacters of the hobli of the same name.
Population 2,065. .

Till 1873, it was the head-quarters of a taluk of the sal¥e
name. The place is surrounded with jungles and derives
its name from Huli or tiger, which animal used to abound in
the neighbourhood. The town and the fortifications of the
hill commanding it, rising to 3,096 feet above the level of the
gea, were, it is said, erected by Kempe Gauda, the chief of
Magadi. Muhammadans and Lingayats form the principal
classes of the population.

Both the village and the hill commanding it are called
Huliyurdurga. The hill is a mass of rock and has the peculiar
appearance of an inverted cup. The fortifications on it are said
to have been built by Kempe Gauda of Magadi. The ascent is
rather difficult, there being only slight depressions in the almost
perpendicular rock to do duty for steps in some places. We
have also here, as in other durgas, the usual springs, ruined
bouses, powder magazines, granaries, palace, darbar hall and
so forth. Among the springs may be named Chikkadévi-doné,
Akkatangiyara-doné and Enjalele-dond. At the second gate-
way from the foot is a shrine of Ganapati carved on a boulder.
To the west of the hill is the Gopilakrishna temple with several
ruined houses in its proximity. It faces east and has three cells :
the middle cell has a good figure, about four feet high, of the
god ; the south cell some Alvirs, the north being empty. Unlike
in other temples, the dvirapilakas stand in the porch at the sides
of the navaranga entrance.  There are two elephants at the
sides of the steps leading to the porch. To the right of the
temple is a separate shrine of the goddess. The latter is a good
figure, unfortunately broken into pieces by Mubammadans. In
the Mallikirjuna or JyStirmaydsvara temple situated in the
portion known as Ealepete of the village is kept the processional
image of the abovementioned Gopilakrishna temple. There

Huliyuc.
durga.
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is also a stone figure of Lakshmi recently prepared to replace
the mutilated one. The hill HEmagiri, situated by the side of
the Huliyurdurga, has on its summit a temple of Mallikiarjuna.
On its eastern slope is a shrine of Varadarija, locally known as
Hémagirivappa, who is in the form of a round stone (udbhava-
murtt) and on the southern, a shrine of Bhairava. This hill is
loftier than Huliyurdurga but not fortified.

Hutridurga.—A fortified hill in the south-west of the
Kunigal taluk, rising to 3,713 feet above the sea. The fort
was taken by Lord Cornwallis in 1792.

Hutridurga derives its name from Hutri, a village situated
about two miles from its foot. The village at the foot of the hill
is known as Santepete and that situated on the first elevation
at about a third of the ascent, as Hutridurga. The latter has
several temples, the Adinarayana, the Virabhadra, the Anjanéya
and so on. The god in the first temple is a good figure about 2
feet high. TIn the sukhanas: is kept another stone figure of
Vishnu, said to be the god of the ruined Krishna temple on the
hill. One of the pillars of the navaranga has the ten incarnations
of Vishnu and another a rare figure of Matsya-Hanuma whose
exploits are recorded in the MairGvana-purina. The hill Hutri-
durga has eight gateways from the foot to the summit, and several
outer gates known as Eleyuru-bagilu, Balekatte-bagilu, Magadi-
bagilu and so forth. On the summit, known as Sankara-kumbhi,
18 situated the Sankarésvara temple, a small building with a
spring called Dodda-doné in front of it. The linga is said to
have been set up by Sankarichiarya. To the left in the nava-
ranga is kept a good standing figure, about 2} feet high, of Mahi-
shasuramardini with four hands, the upper bearing & discus and
a conch, the lower left holding the mouth of the buffalo and the
lower right piercing his neck with a trident. Several epi-
graphs are to be seen at the temple. From the summit we get
an extensive view of the surrounding landscape, a large number
of tanks and hills meeting our gaze. The Ranganatha temple
at Tirumale near Magadi is clearly visible. Among other springs
on the hill may be mentioned Kopparige-dong, Akkatangiyara-
doné, Akshaté-doné and Emme-doné. There are also here the
usual powder magazines and granaries and the ruins of Palegir
Kempe-Gauda’s . palace, treasury and other buildings. There
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is besides a large underground cell below a big boulder on the

top. The highest peak is known as Nisini-gundu, because the -

flag (nisans) of the Palegdr used to be hoisted on it. A platform
below a figure of Ganapati carved on a boulder is known as
Kempe-Gauda’s kajara or darbar seat. Near the ruined Krishna
temple is lying the lower half of a millstone, about 3} feet in
diameter. Hutri-durga is locally known as Dodda-betta; to
its left are Olagadaré and Tirumaladtvara-betta, and opposite
to it is Basavana-durga which is also fortified. Olagadare is
so called because nautch parties used to be held on it during the
Pilegar’s time.

Jayamangali.—An affluent of the N. Pinakini. It rises in
Devarayadurga, in a gorge called the Jaladagondi, and
flowing in a northerly direction into the Madbugiri taluk,
receives the Garudachala near Holavanhalli from the east,
and farther on, near Rampura, the Suvarnamukhi from the
west. Thence, continuing its course through the east of
the Madhugiri taluk, it flows into the N. Pinakini near
Parigi in the Anantapur District. In the sandy bed are
formed a number of Kapile wells, and Talpargi or spring
-head streams are drawn from the channel.

Kadaba.—A town in the Gubbi taluk, on the right bank
of the Shimsha, 7 miles south-west of the kasba, on the road

from Nittur to Mayasandra. Head-quarters of the hobli

of the same name. Population 1,621.

Till 1886, it gave its name to the taluk now called Gubbi,
and was at one time the head-quarters of the taluk.

Itis said to owe its name to Kadamba rishi, who is sa.a to
have performed penance here on the banks of the Shimshupa,
as the Shimsha is called in the local Purana. Réama, on his
return from Lanka, is said to have encamped here, and at
the request of Sita, the river, which was too narrow for
the convenience of all the followers, was dammed so
as to expand into the present -large tank. There is
a settlement of Sri-Vaishnava Brahmans here, which
seems to have been formed in the time of the reformer

Jayamangali.

Kadabas.
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Ramanujichérya, who, fleeing from the Chala country, took
refuge with the Hoysala king.

Kadaba is one of the pancha-grimas or five settlements of
the Hebbir Srivaishnavas, the others being Nuggihalli, Maya-
sandra, Nonavinkere and Bindiganavale. The Tamil inscriptions
of the place name it Dasaratharama-chaturvédi-mangalam.
According to the Stkala- purana, the place was once the hermitage
of the sage Kadamba (see above) who received and honoured
Rama on his way back from Lauka and set up his image for
worship. It derived its name from that of the sage. The Rama
temple here is a large Dravidian structure with a gopura and a
fine Garuda-pillar in front. The pillar is 2} feet square at the
bottom and about 25 feet high and has an iron frame at the top
for placing lamps. It has on the west face Garuda, on the
south a lotus, on the east a discus and a conch with namaem and
on the north a swan. Though called the Rima temple, there
is no figure of Rama in it at present. The figure is said to have
- been removed or destroyed by the Muhammadans and the cell
remained vacant for a long time. Subsequently a stroke of
lightning destroyed the vimana or tower over the cell which has
now disappeared altogether. It appears that a new image of
Rama was prepared some time back, but it was not consecrated
owing to some supposed defect in it. It was, however, removed
to Bangalore some years ago and set up in the Ramésvara temple
in Chamarajapet. The temple at Kadaba has three cells stand-
irg in a line, the middle cell enshrining Janardana, the south
cell Vénugopila and the north Y&ga-Narasimha. According
to tradition, Janirdana was discovered in an ant-hill by 2 gauda,
or head of a village, who used to offer worship every day, and
without his knowledge the sage Kadamba also worshipped the
same deity. One day both met together at the ant-hill and came
to an agreement that the gauda should worship the god during
the day and the sage during the night. Soon after, a temple
was erected by the gauda for the god. The templeisina neglect-
ed condition. The Tamil inscriptions Gubbs 19-21, which are
all fragmentary, are on slabs built into the walls, in some cases
upside down, in various places. The Kailassavara temple seems
to be an older structure. It has also in front a lamp-pillar, 3
feet square at the bottom and 20 feet high, with a framework at
the top for placing lamps. It shows on the east face a linga
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canopied by the hoods of a serpent, on the south a lotus, on the
west & swan and on the north Nandi with a couple with folded
hands below it. The temple faces south, though the linga faces
east. Built into the north outer wall is a slab carved with a
good elepbant with a rider armed with a goad. The bund of
the tank at the village has also a huge slab carved with an ele-
phant. It is not clear what these slahs were meant to represent.
At the east outlet of the tank is a temple dedicated to Hanumin,
to the east of which is a fine uyyale-kamba in the form of a gate,
intended for swinging the god. It is about 15 feet high and
beautifully carved on all sides with scroll work. At Rampura,
near this place, is an inscription, E. C. XII, Gubby 27, dated
1696, which is of great interest from a sanitary point of view. It
states that it was decided at a meeting of the villagers that no
corpse should be buried within an arrow-shot of a well that had
been newly. built, and that in case any burial took place, the
buriers and the buried should be outcastes in this world and the
next. We have some evidence here of the ideas of sanitation
which the villagers had about two centuries and a quarter ago.
An inscription is to be seen at Aremaranhalli and two at Pra-
bhavanhalli.

Kadasur.—A village in the Turuvekere sub-taluk.
Population 148.

The image of Bhairava in the Bhairava temple at this place
is a fine figure about 3 feet high, with four hands, the upper ones
bolding a trident and a drum, the right lower & sword, and the left
lower a skull and a decapitated head. The blood trickling from
the last is shown as being licked by a rearing dog whose hind part
is embraced by a goblin with another seated in front of it.
Bhairava wears matted hair, a necklace of skulls, a snake orna-
ment round the thighs and sandals, his emblem being a scor-
pion. To his right stands a naked figure, perhaps, his consort,
ornamented with a snake, bearing in the right hand what looks
like & disc, the attribute in the other hand being indistinct. The
Lakshimidévi temple at Mavinkere has two good figures, one
larger than the other, of Lakshmi seated in the Lalitésana, (i.c.,
with one leg dangling) with four hands, the upper ones holding
lotuses, the lower being in the abhaya (fear-removing) and varada
(boon-conferring) attitudes. There is likewise a figure of Kah
geated in the same posture with a trident, a drum, 2 sword,

Kadasur.
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and a cup for her attributes. In the navaranga of the Mallésvara
temple is a very fine figure, about three feet high, of Nariyana.

Kaidala.—A village in Gulur hobli, 3 miles south of
Tumkur, containing the ruins of two fine temples.
Population 692.

It appears to have heen formerly the capital of a petty State,

and is said to have borne the name of Kridd-pura. It is also

reported to be the native place of Jakanachari, the famous archi-
tect and sculptor, to whose wonderful skill is attributed all the
finest temple carving in the State, as at Halebid, Belur, etc.
Tradition relates that Jakanichéri’s career began while Nripa
Riya was ruling in Kridipura. He then left his native place
and, entering the service of various courts, produced the works
by which his fame is to this day upheld. After his departure,
a son, Dankanéchari, was born to him, who, when grown up,
set- out in search of his father, neither having ever seen the other.
At Belur the young man found the Chennakésava temple in
course of erection, and—so the story goes—remarked that one
of the images had a blemish. As this would be fatal to its claim
as an object of worship, the architect, who was no other than
Jakanichari himself, hastily vowed to cut off his right hand if
any defect could be found in an image he had carved. To test
the matter the figure was covered with sandal paste, which dried
on every part except around the navel. In this, on examination,
was found a cavity the son had detected, containing a frog and
some sand and water. Mortified at the result, Jakanichari cut
oft his right hand, and inquiries as to who his critic was led to
the unexpected discovery of their mutual relationship. Subse-
quently Jakanachari was directed in a vision to dedicate a temple
to the god Késava in Kridapura, his native place. Thither he
accordingly returned, and no sooner was the temple completed
than his right hand was restored. In commemoration of this
incident, the place has ever since been called Kaidale, the restored
hand.

The Gang@svara temple contains inscriptions stating that
it and the Naridyana temple were erected in 1150, in the reign
of the Hoysala king Nirasimha, by a chief named Gule Bachi.
The name is there spelled Kayadala, and there is nothing in
support of the above story.
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The Chennakésava temple at this place is a large Dravidian
building with a mahadvara or outer gate surmounted by a gopure
or tower. The god about 5 feet high with prabha or glory, faces
west and stands on a pedestal, about 3 feet high, flanked by
consorts. The navaranga has two entrances on the north and
south, the former facing the mahadvara. The outer walls of the
mahadvara, which is supported by four well executed pillars
with lions and riders, are carved with rows of elephants, horses
and yalis. On a pillar to the right in the mahddvara is a figure,
of Chennakésava, similar to the one inside the temple, with
consorts on the side panels. The pillar opposite to it has a fine
figure, about 1} feet high, standing with folded hands wearing
an uttariyam or upper cloth and a dagger, which is said to re-
present the celebrated sculptor Jakanachdri. (See above).
But this tradition does not appear to be worthy of credence.
The existence of a sculptor named Jakanachdri, who is supposed
to have built all the artistic structures in Mysore and elsewhere,
is itself doubtful, seeing that no such name has been met with in
any of the ornate buildings so far examined, though the names of
numerous other sculptors have been noticed. It is very likely
that the figure on the pillar, referred to above, represents a chief
who caused the temple or the mahadvara to be erected. This
is confirmed by the inscribed slab in the Gangidharésvara temple.
The Gangidharésvara temple, situated to the east of the Chenna-
késava, also appears to be a Dravidian structure, though the
navaranga has four beautifully sculptured black stone pillars
decorated with bead work like the ones found in Hoysala build-
ings, supporting a ceiling, about 1} feet deep, carved with a
lotus. The pillars are sculptured on the bottom panels on all
the four sides with fine figures such as Siva, Brahma, Vishnu,
Bhairava, Krishna, Ganapati, Virabhadra and so forth. In
the navaranga is the inscription Tumkur 9 engraved on two slabs,
one having a linga at the top and the other a standing figure
of Vishnu with a figure of Jina under a Mukkode or triple umbrella
seated to its right, which tells us that the temple was built in
1151 by Samanta-Bachi, a subordinate of the Hoysala king
‘Narasimha I, in memory of his father Samanta-Gangayya. We
also learn that Bachi built besides Vishnu and Jina temples at
the village and endowed them. The Vishnu temple is no doubt
the Chennakésava noticed above and the figure on the pillar
of its mahddvdra probably represents Bachi. The inscription
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thus bears testimony to the cosmopolitanism of Simanata-Bachi.

Kandikere.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli taluk. Popula-
tion1,1190. This village hasa ruined fort surrounded by a moat.

The Gapalakrishna temple here has a fine figure of the god,
about 5 feet high with prabha with cows, ctc., carved at the sides.
There is also a busti here dedicated to Sintinitha, a standing
figure about 4 feet high. At some distance to the north-west
of the village is a good structure on an eminence, named Kalyana-
dévara-matha, and a Siva temple, both of which have gone to
ruin. The buildings seem to have been deliberately dismantled,
the architectural members such as pillars, beams and jambs,
and lingas and Nandis lying pell-mell about the place. It is
said that a large number of stones were removed and utilised
for the construction of the Borankanive dam. Near this place
are also to be found a number of tombs of temple bulls.

Karikal-gudda.—A hill in the south-east of the Tiptur
taluk, containing an old quarry of fine black hornblende,
which has been extensively applied to the construction of
temples. The quarry is situated about half & mile east from
the village of Kadahalli.

Kondavatti,—A village in Kunigal taluk. Population 561.

There is here a Lingdyat matha known as Gavi-matha as
it is situated in a cave (gavi) which is said to be connected
by a subterranean channel with the Patila-Ganga of Kela-
gana-gavi matha at Sivaganga. Close to the matha are a
few gaddiges or tombs, of which the one that is most honoured
is the gaddige of Chennavira-svami, who is believed to have
gone to Kailasa with his body about one hundred years ago.

Koratagere.—A sub-taluk in the north-east. Contains
the following hoblis, villages and population :—

Hoblis Villages Population
1. Koratagere .. . .. 44 11,057
2, Channarayadurga .. . . 60 12,892
3. Holavanahalli .. .. . 61 17,415
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Principal places with population : —
Koratagere 3,028; Tovinkere 1,270; Ramapura 1,041 ;
Holavanahalli 2,183.

Koratagere.—A town situated on’ the left bank of the
Suvarnamukhi, in 13° 21’ N. lat., 77° 17’ E. long., 16 miles
north of Tumkur, on the Tumkur-Madhugiri road. Head-
quarters of the Koratagere sub-taluk, and a municipality.

Population in 1921 Males Females Total
Hindus ‘e .. . 1,378 1,297 2,675
Muhammadans .. . . 185 136 321
Christians .- . . . 2 2
Animists . .- . 17 13 30
Total . 1,580 1,448 3,028

The fort and pete were founded by one of the Holavanhalli
chiefs, who removed the seat of government hither. The
former is in ruins, having been dismantled by Tipu Sultan.
Glass bangles are manufactured in the town. The people
are dependent for drinking on the river water, which is pro-
curable at all seasons. The well water is brackish.

The Koratagere hill was once fortified, the remains of the
fort wall being visible here and there. At about the middle
portion of the hill is situated the Gangidharésvara temple con-
sisting of three cells standing in a line with a hall in front. The
cells enshrine Gangidharésvara, Pirvati, and Srinivasa flanked
by consorts. In front of the Srinivasa cell at some distance are
kept on a raised platform figures of the Navagrahas (or nine
planets) in three rows with the sun in the centre facing east,
while the others face all directions. Near the temple is & large
doné or spring, and a structure newly built for the accommodation
of visitors. The summit has a shrine of Basava, to which the
ascent is rather steep. A spot near one of the gates is pointed
out as the Tankasdle or mint of one of the former chiefs. It
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appears that once gold coins used to be picked up here. Govern-
ment have now prevented the removal of earth from the place.
Some boulders behind the hill known as Dalavayi-gundu are
said to represent the heads of a Dalaviyi or general and his
followers who turned traitors to a Palegir princess named
Bayyamma. A pond near the Gokulada-Anjanéya temple
in the town, known as Bayyamma’s pond, is said to have been
built by this princess. Near this temple are also to be found a
few good mastikals (or memorials of satlss).

A jatra on a grand scale is celebrated every year in honour
of Anjanéya at Kemenhalli, about 4 miles from the town.

Muricipal
Funds, 1919-20 | 1920-21 § 1921-22 | 1922-23 | 1923-24
Income 2,245 1,771 3,967 3,329 3,669
Expendi. 1,991 2,017 2,954 3,351 2,673
ture.

Kottagere,—A village in Kunigal Taluk. Population 652.

It appears to have been a place of considerable importance
at one time, judging from the inscriptionsand ruins of the
village. It was also known as Sridharapura during the time
of the Hoysala king Vishnuvardhana. (E. C. XII, Kunigal 1).

The Kottésvara temple, now mostly buried, is an old
Dravidian building with two entrances on the east and south.
It was from this temple that the image of Mahishdsuramardini
was removed, as stated before, to the Sivarimésvara temple
at Kunigal. A Tamil inscription at the village (Kunigal 2),
dated in the 3lst year of the reign of the Chdla king
Rajadhiraja (1048) registers a grant for a god named Réjéndra-
Sola-Isvaram-udaiya Rajadhirdjavidangar, who was in all
probability identical with the god of this old temple. Tradition
hag it that the temple was founded by one Kotappa, who, by the
favour of some Bairdgis styled Lipi-gosdyis, had acquired im-
mense treasure after killing a seven-hooded serpent. He is
also said to have built the tank at the village and to have met with
a sad end at the hands of the labourers who, enraged at his
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merciless behaviour towards them, buried him alive. A ruined
bastt at the village has some mutilated Jina figures lying around,
on the pedestal of one of which is to be seen an inscription of the
12th century. On the site of another ruined temple are to be
seen figures of Siirya and Bhairavi. The latter is seated in
lalitdsana with flames around the head and the scorpion emblem
on the pedestal, the attributes being a trident, a drum, a sword
and a cup.

Kuduvatti.—A village in Madhugiri taluk.

. Situated at the foot of a hill of the same name, is a
bechirakh or uninhabited village enclosed by a lofty mud wall.
No person now enters the enclosure lest he should lose his
life ; because sometime back some one who dug the site for
money vomited blood and died instantly.

Close to the village are three temples known as the Gopila-
krishna, the Lakshmidévi and the Kambadardya, and five old
viragals without any writing. The objects of worship in the
Kambadaraya temple are two pillars standing side by side.

The porch has on the right wall sculptures representing the coro-

nation of Rima and on the left Ranganatha attended by Tum-
bura and Narada. The sculptureson the pillars supporting the
porch show some ingenious combinations of female figures and
Yalis. - Near the Gopalakrishna temple is a small pond, known
asMajjanada-bavi, on the door-post of which is carved a standing
female figure, about 1} feet high, said to represent one Jirale-
Mallamma, who built the Gopalakrishna and Lakshmidevi
temple as well as this pond. Tradition says that she made a
large sum of money by selling butter and that she utilised the
money in carrying out these pious and useful works. The
villagers make an offering of butter to the image and bathe
it with three handfuls of water.

Kundar or Kumadvati.—A stream which rises near
Makalidurga in the Dodballapur taluk, sud flowing northwards
through the Goribidour and Madhugiri taluks, runs into
the north Pinédkini just beyond the frontier of the State.
near the town of Hindupur in the Anantapur District. Its
extreme length is about 30 miles.

32*
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Kunigal. Kunigal.—A taluk in the south-east. Area 382-17 square
miles. Head-quarters at Kunigal. Contains the following
hoblis and population :—

Hoblis Villages Popula.tion
1. Kunigal .. .. .. . 54 15,580
2. Yediyur .. . . . 68 15,024
3. Amritur .. .- .e .. 55 14,648
4. Huliyurdurga . .. . 56 18,798
5. Kottagere . .. . 41 11,126
6. Hutridurga . . . 42 15,917
Total . 316 89,093
Physical Principal places with population :—
aspocts. Kunigal 3,044; Kitlamangala 1,070; Amritur 2,182;
Ujain 1,475; Nidasale 1,103 ; Huliyurdurga 2,065 ; Yeliyur
1,015. v

Except in the east, and south-east, the taluk partakes of
the characteristics of the table-land of Mysore, with an un-
dulating surface intersected by deep ravines. The Hutri-
durga and Huliyurdurge hoblis are hilly, the difference
between the two being that, while the hills in the former are
comparatively bare and barren, those of the latter are covered
with jungle. The hills are a continuation of the Savandurga
range in the adjoining Magadi taluk, and the highest among
them are the peaks of Hutridurga and Huliyurdurga which
rise to a height of 3,713 and 3,096 feet respectively, above
the level of the sea. The drainage of the taluk is towards
the west and the south. There is not much of forest in this
taluk ; portions of jungles in the Huliyurdurga hoblis have
been reserved. They are, however, poor and contain no
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timber trees. The taluk, as a whole, is not a treeless tract ;
on the other hand, groves of trees are met with all
over.

The soil of the high lying fields is generally grey, sandy or
gravelly ; but in the fields lower down, it improves, so that
at the bottom of the valleys a good class of soil is nearly al-
ways found. The taluk depends mainly upon its tanks for
irrigation. There are no river channels. The Shimsha, owing

to high banks, does not admit of being utilised for direct

irrigation. Wells are numerous and water is available in
them for the greater part of the year. The principal dry
crops are ragi and kulths, other crops being avare, jola, harka,
navane, same, haralu, togari and chenna. Small patches of
tobacco are also met with here and there. On wet lands the
crop is either paddy or sugar-cane.

Early in the ninth century, the Kunigal country, which
apparently corresponded with the Kunigal taluk and neigh-
bouring parts, was being governed by Vimaladitya,
Chalukys prince who was the nephew of Chaki Raja, the
Rashtrakiita viceroy ruling the Ganga territories during the
imprisonment of the Ganga king.

The revenue settlement was introduced in 1881 and the
revision settlement in 1921-22. The area of the taluk was
thus distributed :—Cultivable (dry 1,05,604; wet 9,157;
garden 3,770), total 1,18,5631.

The Bangalore-Hassan road passes through Kunigal,
whence also there are cross roads to Tumkur, and wa
Huliyurdurga to Maddur.

Although no railway passes through the taluk, it is ad-
vantageously situated between two lines (the Bangalore-
Harihar and the Bangalore-Mysore Railways), and within
easy distance of three important stations via Gubbi and
Tumkur to the north and Maddur to the south. Both the
lines have succeeded in drawing the taluk out of its seclusion
and enabled it to enjoy in a degree the benefits of swift and
easy transport.

Soil.



Kunigal,

502 MYSORE GAZETTEER [vou.

Kunigal.—-A town situated in 13° 2' N. Lat., 77° 5" E.
Long., 22 miles south of Tumkur on the Bangalore-Mangalore
road. Head-quarters of the Kunigal taluk and a municipality.

Population in 1921 Males Females Total
Hindus .. .. .. 1,067, 1,020 2,087
Mussalmans .. .. .. 458 432 890
Jains .. .. .. 5 1 6
Christians .. .. .. 31 30 61

Total .. 1,661 1,483 3,044

The derivation of the name is said to be Kuni-Gal, dancing
stone, Siva having danced here. But from early inscriptions
it would appear that the original form of the name was
Kuningil or Kunigil.

Three streams rising in Sivaganga, whose names are Nalini,
Nagini and Kamala, are said here to unite their waters.
Their virtue is such that a king from the north, named Nriga
Chakravarti, is said to have been cured of leprosy by bathing
in them, and to have constructed the large tank in conse-
quence. A party of seven Lipt jogis, it is said, subsequently
came from the Himalayas and obtained a large treasure from
the bed of the tank, after killing the seven-headed serpent
which guarded it. The tank is estimated to be fourteen
miles round when full. The foundation of the fort is attri-
buted to a Vira Kambala Raya in 1290. It afterwards came
into the possession of the Magadi chief, who enlarged the
town and fort. Owing to a low type of fever, the place at
one time became very unhealthy. The Stud Farm for the
breeding of horses for the Mysore Silahdars, formerly at
Closepet, has been long established here.

Kunigalisa place of considerable antiquity. In old Kannada
and Tamil epigraphs, it is named Kunungil. In an old Kannada
record, of about 785 A.D., at Kuppepilya, Magadi taluk, the
Ganga king Sivamdra is mentioned as the goyernor of Kunungil-
nadu, 7.e., the district of which Kunungil, the modern Kunigal,
was the chief town. = The same district was, according to the
Kadaba plates, E. C. XIT, Gubbi 61, governed by Vimaladitya, a-
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chief under the Rashtrakiitas,in 812. In the Chola peroid Kunigal
was surnamed Rajéndra-Solapuram. The Narasimha temple
here is a large Dravidian structure, though in a dilapidated
condition. Though so named, it has no image of Narasimha
at present, but has a figure of Késava said to have been brought
from Huliyfirdurga. In the sukhanasi are kept three sets of
processional images, Narasimha, Venkataramana and Varada-
rija. In the prikdra or enclosure is the shrine of the goddess
of the temple. In front of the temple stands a four-armed figure
of Garuda holding a discus and a conch in the upper hands, the
lower ones being folded as usual. Such a figure of Garuda is
rather rare. The front portion of the temple has three cells
on either side :- of those on the north the middle one has Rima
and the others Vishvakséna and Nammalvar; while of those
on the south two have Venkataramana and the goddess, the
third being vacant.

The Somasvara temple is likewise a la. ge Dravidian build-
ing with a mahadvdra in the south. The lin¢ 2, which is udbhava-
murtht, i.e., a natural stone, not set up by ar *one, faces east and
is said to be bent a little towards the north and looking towards
the south in the direction of Mahishdsuramardini in the front
hall. The latter is a good standing figure, about 3} feet high,
with four hands, the upper holding a discus and a conch, the
lower right a sword and the lower left a bow. It stands on the
head of a buffalo and has below a lion to the right and a mun-
goose to the left. The image faces east with its head bent a little
to the south looking towards the north in the direction of the
linga. Tradition has it that the goddess was set up by Sankara-
chirya. Among the figures in the navaranga may be mentioned
Siirya and a standing metallic figure of Ganapati. The former,
about 4 feet high, is flanked by his consorts Samjna and Chhaya
who do not however shoot but merely hold an arrow in the right
hand and a bow in the left. The pedestal is carved with Aruna
and seven horses and the prabha or glory is sculptured with the
figures of the eight remaining planets. In the north-east of the
enclosure is the shrine of Parvati, a good figure about 4 feet high
and to its right a small cell containing a well carved seated
figure, about 4 feet high, of Sarasvati, also said to have been’
set up by Sankarichirya. This goddess bears in the upper
hands a noose and an elephant-goad, the lowest right being in
the abhaya pose with'a rosary and the lower left in the varada
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pose with a book. In a mantapa supported by sculptured pillars,
situated to the south-east of the temple, stands leaning against
the east wall a figure, about 4} feet high, of Garuda on whose
pedestal are carved a fish, an elephant, a scorpion, a tortoise
- and a crocodile. The meaning of this symbolism is not clear.
The sculptures may perhaps be compared with those usually
found on the moonstones of Ceylon.

The Padmésvara temple is a neat structure in the Hoysala
style, consisting of a garbhagrihe, a sukhanass and a navaranga.
The ceilings of the navaranga, about 1} feet deep, are carved
with lotuses. Of the two cells at the sides of the sukhanass
doorway, the right cell has a figure of Ganapati, the other
being empty. The outer walls are decorated with pilasters.

The Venkataramana temple has three cells standing in a
line. The middle cell has a good figure, about 3} feet high, of
Srinivdsa ; the left cell the goddess of the temple, and the right
Ganapati. In the sukhanass of the middle cell are kept the pro-
cessional 1 nage and a few figures of Alvars. There is also kept
here the p ocessional image of the temple on the Rangasvimi
hill, the pe uliarity about this image being that it also reclines
on a serpent like stone figures of Ranganatha. The Uritirumala-
déva temple enshrines the processional image of a ruined temple
at Muganpilya of the same taluk. The Sivaramé&svara temple
is a modern structure, the linga in it baving been set up about a
hundred years ago. But the goddess of the temple, Mahisha-
suramardini, is an old figure brought from the ruined K6ttésvara
temple at Kottagere of the same taluk. Trampling on the buffalo
with one leg, she holds his tail with the lower right hand and
stabs him with the trident in the lowerleft. An inscription on
the sluice of the Kunigal tank gives the interesting information
that the sluice was built in 1394 by Irugapa, the Jaina general
of the Vijayanagar king Harihara II and the nominal author of
the Sanskrit lexicon Nandartharatnikara.

A number of palm leaf manuscripts are in the possession
of Pandit Isvara Sastri and of Basavalingappa, the manager of
a Lingiyat mathe known as Hiriya-matha, affiliated to the
matha at Balehalli. The manuscripts with Isvara Sastri contain
Sapskrit works bearing on the Advaita-Védanta, logic, ritual,
etc., and those with Basavalingappa Kannada works bearing
on the Virasaiva creed. Several of the works examined by the
Archeological Department have not so far been printed.
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According to the Sthala-purana, once upon a time, the
emperor Nriga, his horse and dog, all the three, were cured of
leprosy on bathing in a pend situated in the Kunigal tank.

“i;‘;‘;g?“l 1919-20 | 1920-21 | 1921-22 | 1922-23 | 1923-24

Income .. ‘5,239 5,133 5,765 7,743 7,133
Expendi- 5,639 5,184 5 421 8,218 7.543
ture

Madhugiri.—A taluk in the north-east. Till 1927, Madhugiri.
known as Maddagiri, the new name being given at the
request of the local people. Area including the Koratagere
sub-taluk is 605-50 square miles. Head-quarters at Madhugiri.
Contains the following hoblis, villages and population :—-

Villages ciaosified
g
Hoblis ® % @ g 2
8 % | & L > a8l =2
=] —d
Ela| |SH|&F| S |E%] &
Madhugiri 64 | 16 | 52 2 6 4 | 16,248
Dodderi 80 14 68 2 8 2 17,627
Midagesi . 52 17 48 o 3 1 13,472
Ittikadibbanahalli 34 6 30 0 2 2 10,381
Kodenahalli .. 42 9 36 0 5 2 19,744
Puravara 47 13 33 0 3 11 14,402
Koratigere o] 44 . 41 1 2 .. 11.057
Channarayadurga 59 .. 56 ] 2 . 12,892
Holavanhalli .. 69 - 54 1 10 4 12,415

Principal places with population :—

Chinakojra 1,156; Madhugiri 5,143 ; Chandragiri 1,336 ;
Dodderi 1,064 ; Nerlakere 1,096 ; Raddihalli 1,012 ; Etakadib-
banahalli 1,336 ; Garani 1,183 ; Kodigenahalli 2,055 ; Kadagat-
tur 1,730 ; Gundalu 1,217 ; Doddamalur 1,313 ; Sravandana-
halli 1,109 ; Kodlapura 1,105 ; Nitrahalli 1,215 ; Byalya 1,257.

The eastern half of the taluk is plain country, with un-
dulations not of a striking character ; the west half is scattered
over with hills which form a link in the well-defined chain
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traversing the State from south to north approximately.
The two highest peaks within the taluk are at Madhugiri and
Midagesi. The rocks are generally dark of colour and con-
tainiron. Thereisno forest tospeak of ; the hills are covered
with serub jungle which nowhere attains the dignity of forest,
but the taluk has an abundance of fopes and shady trees.
The north Pinakini or Pennar just skirts the taluk for a short
distance in the east. The Jayamangali. an affluent of this
river, runs nearly parallel to it. Between the iwo, the
Kumadvati runs likewise. The lie of the country is generally
from south-west to north-east. The taluk takes very high
rank so far as soil is concerned with water easily obtainable
at a few feet below the surface from talapariges or surface-
springs. Loamy soil of all shades of darkness is the common
feature of the east and the centre; along the streams i -
becomes good black Regur. Towards the west and the north,
red soil with an admixture of sand predominates. The
principal of dry crops is ragi ; pulses, jola, horse-gram, navane,
oil-seeds and tobacco come next in importance. In wet
land, rice of course holds the first place. The gardens produce
areca, betel, cocoa-nut and other common fruits such as
plantain, mango, jacks and lime. Pomegranates and figs

- and other fruits of a superior kind are a speciality in some

villages.

The revenue settlement was introduced in 1877 and the
revision settlement in 1916-17. The total revenue demand
for 1923-24 was Rs. 1,95,670.

The average rainfall at Madhugiri station for 51 years is
23-51.

The Tumkur-Pavagada road runs through the taluk from
south to north, by way of Koratigere, Madhugiri and Midagesi,
crossed by a road from Madhugiri west to Sira and another
south-east to the Railway Station at Thondebhavi.

Madhugiri.—A town situated in 13° 39’ N. lat., 77° 6’ E.
long., 24 miles north of Tumkur, on the Tumkur-Pavagada
road. Head-quarters of the taluk and a municipality. .
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Population in 1921 Males | Females B Total

Hindus . .. NN 2,100 2,908 4,198
Mussalmans .. .. . 495 436 931
Jains . .- .. 4 3 7
Christians .. .. .. 1 6 7
Total . 2,600 2,543 5,143

It is surrounded on all sides by hills, the continuation of
the north and south range which traverses the east of the
District. The town derives its name from Madhu-giri, or
honey hill, at the northern base of which it is situated. The
two large temples of Venkataramanasvami and Mallésvara,
standing side by side, are conspicuous objects. A very
graceful ornament is carried round under the eaves of the
roof of the latter, representing doves or pigeons, of about
life size, in every natural attitude.

The erection of the original fort and town is ascribed to a
local chief named Raja Hera Gauda. The circumstance of a
stray sheep having returned from the bill dripping with water led
to the discovery that it was well supplied with springs of water.
This being reported by the shepherds of the neighbouring village
of Bijavara, the advantages of the situation were so apparent that
the town was established, and mud fortifications were constructed
on the hill for its protection. About 1678, while Rima Gauda
and Thimma Gauda, descendants of the founder, were ruling in
Madhugiri, they incurred the hostility of the Raja of Mysore.
The dalaviyi Dévaraj was therefore sent against it, who, after
a siege of a year, took the place and led the Gaudas with their
families captive to Seringapatam. They were, however, released
and sent back to Midagesi, which was left to them out of their
lost possessions.

The fortifications of Madhugiri were greatly increased by
Haidar Ali and the place was the seat of a valuable trade, coan-
taining a hundred houses of weavers alone. Hither in 1763, on
the conquest of Bednur, he sent as prisoners both the Ranj and
her lover, and also even the pretender Chenna Basavaiya, for
whose rights he had ostensibly been fighting, and here they
remained until the capture of the place by the Mahrattas in
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1767. The Mahratta chief Madhava Rao held possession of
Madhugiri for seven years, and when forced by Tipu in 1774
to retire, plundered the town of everything he could carry away.
With the usual exaggeration its wealth is said to have been so
great that he disdained to remove anything less valuable than
gold. Tipu bestowed on it the name of Fattebabad, city of
victory, and made it the capital of a surrounding district
Vielding 2 revenue of six lakhs of pagddas. But his exactions
had nearly ruined the place, when the destruction was completed
by the Mahrattas in 1791. Balvant Rao, one of Parasu Rim
Bhao’s officers, besieged it, though without success, for five
months, having under his command a large army, according to
local accounts, of 20,000 men. It was principally composed of
bandits assembled by the Palegirs formerly driven from their
strongholds, who had ventured back under the protection of
Lord Cornwallis. On the conclusion of peace, they were speedily
dispersed by the Sultin, but not before they had devastated all
the neighbouring country. Of 500 Mahratta horse who had joined
this rabble, it is said that only 20 men with their chief escaped.
On the conclusion of the Third Mysore War and the death of
Tipu, Madhugiri was included in the new territory of Mysore.

Though its prosperity has somewhat revived since 1800, the
town has never recovered from the ravages of the Mahratta
army. It has, however, an extensive trade in brass, copper,
and silver vessels of every description. There are also manu-
factures of iron, steel, coarse cloth and kumblis, and weekly
interchange is held with the markets at Tiptur, Bellary and
Hindupur in the Anantapur District, as well as with Bangalore.
The article of export is rice, especially that called Chinnada
Salaki, or golden stick, which is much cultivated and eagerly
sought by Bangalore merchants, as it is estimated to be the
best in the State. The cattle here are finer than those
ordinarily seen in other parts of the District. The town,
as well as the whole taluk, owes its prosperity to the richness
of the soil, and the springs peculiar to this region, which
abound everywhere near the surface, so that in the worst of
seasons an unfailing supply of water is obtainable for the
crops, while the well-water is generally sweet.
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'The Madhugiri fort is one of the finest in Mysore. Portions
of it are roofed and converted into Government offices The
Mallésvara and Venkataramana temples, which are similar in
plan and stand in a line facing east, are large Dravidian structures
with lofty towers. The lamp-pillar in front of the Mallgsvara
temple, about 20 feet high, has a pavilion on the top for
placing lamps. The porch of the temple has two niches, the
one to the left containing a figure of Harihara and the other a
figure of Ganapati. In the prakdra are shrines of Parvati, Mahi-
shasuramardini, Subrahmanya, Tindavésvara and Krishna,
the last a fine figure, and rows of linga cells on the north and
south, On the pedestal of Parvati is a label giving the names of
two women who may have set up the image. In this shrine is
also kept the metallic figure of Chaudésvari, whose temple has
gone to ruin. This is a seated figure, about 1} feet high, with
8 hands, 5 of them bearing a bell, a shield, a cup, an axe and a
sword, -one holding the head of a demon, the remaining two
beingin the fear-removing (abkaya) and dancing (ndtyae) attitudes.
The kalyina-mantapa is a good structure supported by 4 pillars,
the front portions of which are carved into figures of Narada,
Tumburu and two other rishis or sages. In the Venkataramana
temple the god is about 6 feet high and there are two goddesses
named Sridévi and Bhiidévi in separate shrines in the prakira.
The porch has two cells, the one to the right enshrining Garuda
and the other, Hanuman. The temple has also stone and
metallic figures of several Srivaishnava saints and sages. The
Mallinatha-basti adjoining the fort wall has in front a good
manastambha, about 15 feet high, with a pavilion on the top but
without the usual Jina figure. Besides Jina figures, the bast:
has two seated stone figures of Brahma and metallic figures of
Sarasvati and Padmavati. A new inscription was discovered
here and another at the Kdlamma temple. The lofty west gate
of the town, about 20 feet high, is known as Dandiru-bagilu.
There are several fine wells at Madhugiri such as Janaiyana-
bavi, Arasana-bavi, Pradhanara-bavi, etc., stepped all round
and adorned with sculptures here and there. Of these, the first
situated to the north of the Travellers’ Bungalow is perhaps the
best. It has a beautiful gateway and well-carved figures of
Rama, Lakshmana, Sita, and Hanuman trampling on a demon.
The second well, situated to the east of the Travellers’ Bungalow,
has figures of Hanuman, Ganapati and Bhairava, as also an

LN
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ingeription (E. C. X1I, Maddagiri 16) which tells us that it was
built in 1699 by order of the Mysore King Chikka-Déva-Réja-
Wodeyarand named Devarayasamudra after him. From another
inscription (Maddagiri 15) on a rock at some distance to the
south of the Travellers’ Bungalow, we learn that the same king
built in 1690 a mantapa, a brinddvana and a pond known as
(5pala Sarassu, and that Gauramma of Talkad, his queen,
built a pond. The brinddvana is a good structure with a canopy ;
but it is not known why it was built. Close to it stand 4 beauti-
fully carved pillars, about 12 feet high, decorated with scroll
work on all the sides. These are said to have once belonged to
the sluice of a tank which is no longer in existence. At some
distance to the town is a Lingayat matha known as Gurrammana-
matha, close to which is a gaddige or tomb of a Lingayat guru
named Sivalingasvimi. To the south-east of the matha are
some caves at the foot of Madhugiridurga, named Sadhu-gavi,
Méke-gavi, Pattiladammana-gavi and Siddhdsvara-gavi, An
inscription was found at the third cave, which records a grant
by the wife of the Madhugiri chief Chikkappa-Gauda.

Municipal . . Y 9
Funds, 1919-20 | 1920-21 | 1921-22 1922-23 | 1923-24
Receipts .. 6.813 7,338 - 6,006 8,747 7,076
Expendi- 7,447 7,689 7,006 9,942 8,265
ture.

Madhu giri—durga.~A bold fortified hill commanding the
town of Madhugiri. The summit is 3,935 feet above the
jevel of the sea.

This hill is one mass of rock strongly fortified. It hasseveral
donés or springs, such as Naviladi-doné on the north slope,
Bhimana-doné on the south slope, Ittige-don® on the hill, Chan-
dradoné higher up, and Navil-doné on the top. Several of these
are stepped with bricks. Ahove Chandra-doné the ascent is
very steep for some distance. It is said that the place of the
Palegar was situated near this doné. There are several gates
leading to the top, such as the Antaralada-bagilu, Diddi-bagilu,
etc. The Mysore gate is to the south. On the top is situated
the Gopala-Krishna temple, which is now empty. Near it are
the granary of +ag: and the treasury. Grains of ragi are even
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now available for examination. The treasury appears to have
had rows of big pots buried up to the neck close to the walls.
There are likewise dome-like masonry structures with circular
openings at the top for storing ghee and oil. Similar structures
are also found lower down. They are called kanajasin Kannada.
The view from the top defies description ; any number of hills
and tanks meet our gaze on every side, the hills looking like
little mounds and the tanks like small pools of water. A risky
descent of some distance on the almost perpendicular south
slope of the hill takes us to Bhimana-doné. Here is a fine figure
of Hanuman with an inscription to its left telling us that the
figure was consecrated and the doné made by the Madhugiri
chief Mummadi Chikkappa-Ganda in 1646. He is identified
in inscriptions and literature with Bijjavira, a village about 3
miles to the east of Madhugiri, which was apparently his capital.
A descendant of his is now living in poor circumstances at Sambu-
vanhalli, about 4 railes from Madhugiri. At some distance above
the foot of the hill is a square basin with a small hole, on blowing
into which a sound as of moving wateris heard. This is probably
a secret arrangement for the water-supply of the fortress. A
stroke of lightning has split the mass of rock to a considerable
distance causing a narrow crack all through. It has also
thrown down the brick parapet in some places.

Mallekavu.—A village in Koratagere sub-taluk. Popula-
tion 424.

Close to this village flows & small stream known as Siddhara-
bettada-halla (the stream of the Siddhag’ hill). This hill, about
three miles to the west of the village, is largely visited by
pilgrims from the surrounding parts, especially on Tuesdays and
Fridays. It has a cave temple enshrininga linge at the foot of
which is a perennial spring in the form of a well, one yard
square and four feet deep, which is said to be the source of the
above mentioned stream.

Maralur.—A village in Tumkur taluk. Population 388.

The Ramadévaru temple at this place has for the object of
worship a good stone panel, measuring 2’ by 13’, sculptured with
a horseman holding a spear in the uplifted right hand. In front
of the horseman stand five female figures, representing perhaps
his wives, and behind him two male figures, probably his servants.

I\I&llel;avu.

Maralur.
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The semi-circular top of the pancl is artistically executed with
scroll work.

Marale.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli taluk.

This place has some fine mdstikels. In one of thewm the
husband holds a sword in the right hand with the point turned
towards the ground, the left hand being placed on the waist.
His wife wears a crown surrounded by ﬂa.mes her right hand
with a lime on the palm hanging by the side and her left hand
bolding a mirror to the front. Another shows a well carved
and richly ornamented couple, of whom the husband, adorned
with an uttariyam or upper cloth, bears a sword under the right
arm-pit, the hand being placed on the breast. The left hand
hangs by the side. The wife has her right hand raised and open
showing a lime on the palm, the left hand dangling with a mirror.

Mayasandra.—A village in Turuvekere Sub-Taluk.
Population 1,165.

It is one of the Pancha~g gramas or five villages or settle-
ments in this part of the country of the Hebbar Sri-
Vaishnavas. Kadaba in Gubbi Taluk is regarded as chief of
these settlements, the others besides Mayasundara being
Nuggihalli in Chennarayapattana taluk, Bindiganavale in
Nagamangala taluk, and Nonavinkere in Tiptur taluk.
About ten families of these Sri-Vaishnavas now live here.
At the back of the Kollapuradamma temple here are lying
scattered mutilated figures of Ganapati, Nandi, cte.

Midagesi.—A town in the Madhugiri taluk, at the eastern
base of the Midagesi-durga, 12 miles north of the kasba, on
the Tumkur-Pavagada road. Head-quarters of the Midagesi
hobli. Population 957.

It is said to be named after a princess who was burned
here with the corpse of her husband. (See below). Ranis
of the same family continued to govern it until conquered by
*Chikkappa Gauda, of whose family it remained the chief
possession long after they had been deprived of Madhugiri
and Channaraya-durga. In 1761 it was reduced by Haidar
Ali, and six years later by the Mahrattas, from whom it was
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recovered by Tipu in 1774, During the invasion of Lord
Cornwallis, a descendant of Chikkappa Gauda returned to
the town, but finding little that had escaped Mahratta
capture, did not leave it until Kamr-ud-din was approach-
ing with a large force. Under the Muhammadan govern-
ment, Midagesi was the residence of an Asdph, and after-
wards the head-quarters of a taluk, which was finally in-
corporatcd with Madhugiri. )
This place is said to have been so named by a local chief,
Nagareddi, after his wife Midagesi, who was so called because
her hair (késa) was so long that it touched her heel (midi). The
Venkataramana temple which is similar in plan to the temple
of the same name at Madhugiri is said to have been built by the
chief Nagareddi. His pa]ace was situated to the south of the
temple, and an entrance in the south wall of the prakara, now
closed, is said to have been the gate through which the palace
people went into the temple. A figure on this wall, about 1}
feet high, standing with folded hands, is said to represent Naga-
reddi. There is also sculptured on the same wall a five-hooded
snake, about 5 feet long, lying horizontally with a small figure
of Krishna dancing on it. In the Garuda shrine in front of the
temple is a square hole through which the rays of the rising sun
are said to fall on the feet of the god. The navaranga entrance
has at the sides two niches containing figures of Ganapati and
Virabhadra. The Garudagamba is a fine pillar, about 40 feet high,
decorated with scroll work on all the sides; butunfortunately it
has been broken in the middle by a stroke of lightning,
the upper portion lying below. The Mallésvara temple is said
to have been built by Vokkaligas of the Settendru sect, the god
being their tutelary deity. Tradition has it that a beautiful
damsel of this sect, named Chikka-Mallamma, was, during
an attack by the Muhammadans, seized by them and confined in
the fortress on the Midagesi hill ; and that on her prayer to God
for her release, the rock split and made way for her, whereupon
she descended the hill and entered fire in front of the god Mallés-
vara. Her figure, about 2 feet high, is sculptured on the rock
to the right of the ﬂight of steps leading to the top about the
middle of the hill. It is in a walking posture holding a sword
in ‘the right hand and what looks like a lance in the left. The
Vokkaligas referred to above were of three classes: Settendru,
M. GR. VOL. V. 33
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Alpenbru and Généru. A copper-plate inscription in the posses-
sion of the pitjari of the Mallésvara temple, of which only the
last plate has been examined, mentions these classes of Vokka-
ligas and refers to the agni-pravésa (entering fire) of the damsel.
The god in the Jibi-Anjanéya temple is a huge figure, about 9
feet high. The Midagesi hill is said to have been fortified by
Nigareddi mentioned above. Here also we have the usual
granaries of ragi and paddy, dome-like structures for storing
ghee and oil, powder magazines and donés. Grains of old ragi
can even now be had for examination, but the paddy-kanaja
has only a quantity of husk. Two of the donés are named
Musare-doné and Kannerammana-doné, the former situated on
the top and the latter on the north slope. There is a fine mosque
on the summit with two minarets at the sides and an ornamental
parapet all round the roof. It has also flights of steps on both
the sides. Close to the mosque stands a shrine dedicated to
Hanumén. There are several gates leading to the top of the hill.

Muganayakankote.—A town in the Gubbi taluk, 15
miles east of the kasba. Population 1,321.

It is strongly fortified with mud walls, and before the last
incursion of the Mahrattas contained a fine market, consisting
of a wide street lined with cocoa-nut trees. A somewhat droll
account is given of the Mahratta attack on the place, which was
repulsed by the inhabitants with the utmost gallantry. Parasu
Ram Bhao while at Sira despatched, it is sgid, a force of 500
horse with 2,000 irregular foot and one gun to capture the fort.
Its defence was undertaken by 500 peasants from the neigh-
bourhoed, who had two small guns and 100 match-locks, slings
and stones being the only other weapons. The market was
destroyed to prevent its giving shelter to the attacking party.
The siege was maintained for two months, but though the
Mahrittas repeatedly fired their gun, they never once, says the
local historian, succeeded in hitting the fort! Disheartened
by their ill-success and the loss of two or three of their men,
the enemy abandoned the siege and retired, not one of the
defendants having been hurt.

Nagalapura.—A village in the Turuvekere sub-taluk.
Population 475.
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At the entrance to this village is lying the slab on which
E.C. 12, Tiptur17is carved. It hasat the top these symbols—a
discus, a drum, a dagger, a gateway, and a svastika, the signi-
ficance of which is not quite clear. The gateway is, however,
found in several inscriptions of the Hoysala king Ballala III
(1291-1342) in the Tumkur district and elsewhere, and the date
of the present record is most probably 1336. As at Turuvekere,
there are also here two fine temples in the Hoysala structure,
dedicated to Vishnu and Siva. They are similiar in plan, but
mostly in ruins. The Chennakésava temple, which faces east,
consists of a garbhagrika, a sukhanasi and navaranga, and may
have had a porch once. The garbhagriha and sukhanasi are
each about 6 feet square, and the navaranga about 20 feet square.
The ceilings of the former are flat with a lotus in the centre and
figures of the Ashtadikpaltikas or regents of the directions around.
The door lintel of the garbhagriha had a figure of dancing Krishna
with two hands. The original image Chennakésava is not now
forthcoming : we have instead a figure of Srinivdsa, about 5
feet high. The sukhanasi doorway, which is well carved, has
perforated screens at the sides and figures of Paravasudéva and
dancing Krishna with four hands on the lintel and pediment
respectively. It has also two niches at the sides which are now
empty. The four pillars of the navaranga are elegantly carved
with bead work, the capitals too being finely sculptured. The
sockets on the capitals bear evidence to the existence at one time
of madanakai or bracket figures, but none is now left. At the
corners on the abacus are figures of lions attacking elephants or
Yalis. Of the ceilings of the navaranga, 8 are about two feet
deep with lotus buds and beautiful work around, while the re-
maining one in front of the sukkanasi entrance is flat with 9
blown lotuses. The outer walls have fallen down in parts and
consequently many large images, turrets, and portions of cornice
and eaves are scattered around or buried. The walls have these
friezes from the bottom—(1) elephants, (2) horsemen, (3) scroli
work, (4) uncarved frieze intended for Puranic scenes, (b) makaras
and (6) swans. Above these come in succession a row of large
images, a fine cornice, a row of miniature turrets coming alter-
nately over single or double pilasters, and eaves. Several of the
large images are unfinished and many blocks are uncarved.
Of the images that are now in position, 32 are male, and 35
female. Among the gods and goddesses represented are Vishru

33>
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in forms such as Paravasudéva, Narasimha 3, Varaha, Lakshmi-
narayana, Vénugdpala, Vithala, with hands holding bags placed
on the waist, and Hayagriva, with the attributes—a discus, a
conch, a book and a rosary; Brahma, Garuda and Ganapati,
Dakshinamiirti, Indra and Sachi ; Lakshmi, Durga 2, Sarasvati
2, Mohini 2, Mahishdsuramardini; one of the Vishnu figures
is seated with four hands, two of them holding a discus and a
conch and the other two placed palm over palm in Yégamudra
or attitude of meditation ; of the female figures, 28 are either
attendants or chauri-beaters. The tower is completely gone.
The other Hoysala temple in this village is Kédarésvara. It is
similar in plan to the Chennakésava temple, only it has the en-
trance on the south, though the linga faces cast. Here too the
walls have fallen down in parts along with the images, turrets,
etc., and the tower too is gonme. And the ceilings and the
pillars here have the show of finer work than in the other
temples. The garbhagriha and the sukhanasi ceilings have
Tandavésvara in the centre; the sukhanasi doorway has Uma-
mahésvara on the lintel and the God Tandavésvara flanked by
makaras on the pediment, and the fine niches on its sides contain
figures, as usual, of Ganapati and Mahishasuramardini; and
the central ceiling of the navaranga, about five feet in diameter,
is exquisitely carved and has a fine lotus bud, about two feet
long, with figures carved around the lower end. Here too the
Madanakas or bracket figures are missing. The navaranga has
figures of Brahma, Nariyana, Siirya, with four hands—the
upper holding lotuses and the lower being in the wvarada
or (boon-conferring) and abhaya or (fear-removing) attitudes,
Sarasvati and Saptamatrikah, besides a good Nandi opposite
the linga. The lower panels of the pillars and the inner walls
have rude figures of some animals, etc., carved recently; there
is likewise a roughly carved figure of Vénugspila, on the wall
opposite the entrance with a modern inscription which appears
to state that the figure was carved by or under the direction of
Sibi Narasimha-y5gi. The friezes on the outer walls are the
same as those of the other temple. The name of the sculptor
Baichoja, son of Sigoja, occursin about in 7 places in characters
of the 13th century. It is very probable that he is identical
with his name-sake who executed the images of the south wall of
the Lakshiminarasimha temple at Nuggihalli which was built
in A.D.1249. This peculiarity has not been so far observed in
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any temple. It is worthy of notice that these labels are not in-
cised, a8 usual, on the pedestals of the images, but on the turrets
above them. Another peculiar feature noticed here is the
representation on the outer walls of the regents of the directions
with their consorts and vehicles in their proper positions. Of
the images now found on the outer walls, 38 are male, and 39
female. The gods and goddesses represented are Siva and his
forms such as Gajisurimardana, Tandavésvara, Dakshinamiirti,
Umamahésvara, and Vrishabbarudha ; Brahma, Vishnu, Bhai-
rava 2, Bhringi, Ganapati, Subrahmanya, Garuda, Arjuna, and
Manmatha, Durga 2, Sarasvati 2, Mahishasuramardini and
Mghini. Garuda is represented as bearing Kasyapa and Kadru
on the shoulder with a dagger in the right hand. Another pecu-
liar sculpture consists of two monkeys holding a fruit between
them endwise. Of the female figures, 35 are either attendants
or chauri-bearers.

Nagehalli.—A village in Koratagere Sub-Taluk. Popula-
tion 201.

The temple of Mallappa to the north of this place, known
as Gutte-Mallappa is situated in a cave. To the west of it
stands in the open a slab, measuring 9’ X 6’ X 1’, carved with
a fine figure of Hanuman called Bail-Hanumanta. Two
small monkeys at the sides are represented as eagerly eating
some fruit.

Navilkurki.—A village in Koratagere taluk.

To the north of this place is a fine mastikal containing
figures of husband and wife standing side by side, the latter
holding a mirror in the left hand and a lime between the
thumb and forefinger of the right hand. In some cases
flames are shown as issuing from the head of the female
figure, and the couple are represented as dancing as an
indication of their joy after coming together in heaven.

- Nidugal.—Also called Nidugaldurga. A fortified hill in
the Pavagada taluk, 14 miles west of the kasba, with a village

of the same name on the south and east which was once 3
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prosperous city. Headquarters of the Nidugal kobls. Popula-
tion 108. ‘

The lofty pointed peak of Nidu-Gal, literally the long or
high stone or rock, rising to 3,722 feet above sea-level, is a con-
spicuous object throughout the north-east of the country, and
it was at all times a formidable stronghold. In the ninth and
tenth centuries it was held by the Nolamba kings, who were of
the Pallava family, and whose capital was at Henjeru, now
called Hémavati. Subsequently it was in possession of a line
of kings of Chola descent, prominent among whom was Irungola,
acknowledging the supremacy of the Chalukyas, whose name
occurs as one of the opponents of the Hoysala king Vishnu-
vardhana in the twelfth century. The Hoysalas appear to have
finally captured the place in the time of Ballala II. Under the
Vijayanagar kings, a line of chiefs, whose progenitor was Tippa
Rija of Harati, held Nidugal. In 1761 they submitted to Haidar
Ali on his conquest of Sira, and were finally ousted by Tipu,
who took the last representative as a prisoner to Seringapatam,
and put him to death when the British army ascended the Ghats.
A fuller account is contained in the history of the district.

A genealogy of the chiefs of Nidugal is given in Pavugada
54 of 1487, but a Holakal Bomma-Nayaka appears ruling there
much earlier, in 1337 (Sira 8). The genealogy begins with Abba-
Nayaka, whose son was Pala-bhiipala, whose son was Bomma-
Nayaka, whose son was Erabapa-Nayaka, whose son, by Amma-
ambika, was Chikka-Tippanripa. Ruling the Nidugal hill-
fort, the most inaccessible of the hill-forts of Karnataka, he
became the master of many hill-forts. Being guarded by the
eight Durgis, the eight Bhairavas, the Ganapatis and the three
gods, Nidugal could not, we are told, be subdued by Asvapati
or (ajapati. The titles of the chief are—Kathari-raya, the
champion who took the head of Mésa (or Mé&sana), bhadra (that
is, bahadiir) maluka, subduer of the Hoysana army, splitter of
the skull of Holekal Bomma, worshipper of the god Tiruvéngala-
nitha. He built & temple and made a tank in the name of
his wife Lakshma-Dévi. In 1515 we have a Jaka-Niyaka
(Pavugada 62). According to Pavugada 63 and 37, Timimanna or
Timma-Nayake was the chief in 1560 to 1564.

The Harati chiefs next held the Nidugal territory, with which
they were invested by the Vijayanagar king Venkatapati-Raya.
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The list of places granted by him in 1640 is given in Pavugada
46, which included Nidugal, Dodderi, Hiriyur, etc. In about
1580, there was Rangapa-Nayaka. (Sira 53). In 1605, Siddana-
Nayaka, (Stra 61). In 1609, Immadi-Kenchapa-Nayaka (Sira
1). In1612; Immadi-Rangapa Niyaka’s son Hungahati-Nayaka.
(Sira 84). In 1621 they assume the title of Rdja, and we have
Saraja Krishnappa-Rija’s grandson, Rangappa-Raji’s son,
Kastiri Rangappa-Rija. (Sire 64). In 1626 was a third or
Mummadi-Rangappa-Nayaka. (Sire 54).

Pavugada 42 and 46, of 1653 and 1670, give the following
genealogy :—Tippa-Réja, whose son was Kamaya, whose son
was Bomma, whose son was Adisuréndra, whose son was Hiri-
yodeya, whose son was Chikka-nripa, whose son was Hotte-
nripila, whose son was Nandi-bhiipa, whose son was Hotte-nripa,
whose son was Timma-bhiipa, whose son was Hotténdra, whose
son, by Chinnamambe, was Hotte-nripa, whose son, by Chikka-
mémbe, was Timma-nripa. Considering the Kalanjana hill
(Nidugal) the best in the world, the Kalahasti linga, it is added,
came and rested on its summit, and appearing to Harati Tim-
méndra, instructed him in all wisdom. He therefore resolved
to rebuild the temple of the linga set up by Ramabhadra, which
wasold. Accordingly, consulting with trusty men, he surmmoned
with haste five sculptors, and having plans drawn, ordered the
architects to carry them out at once, giving them dresses of
honour and betel leaf. In the antarala (or interior), they erected
a beautiful ranga-mantapa, and made a fine chandra-sala or gallery,
according to the Timméndra’s directions. And in accordance
with the rules, they erected a stone pillar, and set up a spire or
tower; also the sasana, which gives all this information in
which are repeated his titles, with some additions. These
include the titles of the preceding Nidugal chiefs. But he es-
‘pecially calls himself Timma-Vajir, that is, the Arabic vazir,
a vazir or prime minister. In this relation he apparently claims
to stand to the Vijayanagar king Sriranga-Riya. A list is
given of the territories originally conferred on the family and of
the names of his father and mother, and his own nine wives,
Pavugada 59 of 1681 is a somewhat similar record of Hotte-
nripa, and Pavugada 60 of 1705 winds up with the statement
that a nirapa granted by Mummadi-Hottenna-Nayaka in 1680
in connection with the building of a fort having been lost, a copy
was granted on copper.
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Nidugal.—A village in Pavagada talnk.

This place, once a prosperous city, is now a small unhealthy
village containing about half a dozen houses. There is also
a larger village of the same name on the first elevation of the
adjacent Nidugal hill,

There are numerous temples both at the foot and on the
hill, but most of them are in ruins. Of those at the foot, which
seem to be comparatively modern, the Saravadésvara temple,
also called the Hottésvara after the Harati chief Hotténna-
Nayaka, was built in 1681. (Pavugada 59). The god is named
Saravadésvara after Saravad, a village in the Bijapur country,
which is said to be the birthplace of the progenitor of the Harati
family. The Rima temple has a boulder carved with the figures
of Rama, Sita, Lakshmana and Sugriva, with Hanuman and
Garuda at the sides. To the right of this composition on the
same boulder is a big figure of Hanuman, and to the left a figure
of Mahishasuramardini. The Kasivisvésvara temple is a small
neat structure with three cells in a line and a common navaranga.
The central cell has a linga, the right cell Ganapati and the left
Parvati. The last is a seated figure, about 1} feet high, holdinga
ladle horizontally with both the hands. Such a figure of Parvati
is known as Annapiirna. On the back wall of the Ganapati
cell is carved a linga worshipped by an elephant on the right
and by Vyaghrapida on the left. To the left in the Anjanaya
temple stands a rishs or sage bearing a rosary in the right hand
which rests in the fear-removing (abkaya) pose on a staff and
holding what looks like a book in the left. The village has also
a kabar or tomb, said to be of Mirza Huséni Vali who came from
Hyderabad, in honour of which a jatre or urs is held every year.
A new record was copied at the village.

This hill has two or three distinct elevations. But the
ascent is very steep and difficult, there being no steps at all to
help the climber. It takes nearly an hour and a half to reach
the top, that is, without any stoppages on the way. But when
once there, you forget all your fatigue and enjoy one of the
grandest views of the surrounding landscape : you see any num-
ber of hills and lakes as far as the eyes can reach. The in-
scription Pavugada 52, of 1232, says that the hill was named
Nidugal (lofty rock) because it touched the skies with its formid-
able peak ; and Pavugada 54 of 1487 tells us that it waa the °
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most impregnable of all the hill fortresses in the Karnitak
country. It is also called Kalanjana in the inscriptions, There
are several lines of fortifications known as Kalésvara-kéte,
Bhairavana-kite, Are-kote, Nigarésvara-kote, etc., and a number
of gates known as Matanuru-bagilu, Singirada-bagilu, Simalay-
yana-diddi and so on. The hill has likewise the usual granaries,
powder magazines, donés, palace ruins, etc. On the top the
chief Hottenna-Nayaka built a small Basava shrine in 1653
(Pavugada 42)and had an inscription engraved. The shrine is
now in ruins. A new inscription was discovered on the pillar in
front of it. By the side of the shrine is an iron lamp with a
shaft, about 6 feet high, fixed on the rock, which is lighted once
a year or oftener by the people of the surrounding villages in
fulfilment of their vows. A little lower down is the Kalahastis-
vara temple which, according to Pavugada 46, had its linga set
up by Rama, and was renovated by the Harati chief Timmanna-
Nayaka in 1670. This seems to be at some distance where are
lying three pieces of old cannon, one of which, about 18 feet long,
is known Elu-makkala-tays or “the mother of seven children.”
The palace has only a few walls now left. A portion scooped
out at the top of a huge boulder with holes for steps is said to
have served as a seat for the chief during darbars. The palace
garden has a pair of ornamental black stone pillars known as
Bavikally or ““well stones” with holes for the cross bar, sur-
mounted by figures of bulls and curved at the top. There i3
also a dark underground cell (nelamalige) attached to a boulder.
The ruined Nagésvara temple near a pond known as Hokkarane
is a Hoysala building which, according to Pavugada 53, of ahout
1150, was founded during the reign of the Chilukya king Jaga-
dakamalla II. The navarange has 5 niches on both sides, as
also figures of Subrahmanya and Sirya, a beautifully carved
but headless female figure and a fine Nagakanyaka with a female
figure at the side. The Nagesvara appears to be the oldest of
the existing temples on the hill, though mention is made of a
temple founded by Bidichorarasa of the Pallava family in an
inscription of the 8th century (Pavugada 45) built into the left
wall of the porch of the Kilahastisvara temple. There is an
underground canal supplying water to the Hokkarane mentioned
above. The god of the Chennakésava temple has been removed
and set up in a new temple at the village Bellibattalu. Near
this temple is a small shrine containing an elegantly carved
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seated figure, about three feet high, of Bhairava, with ten hands.
There is also a buried Siva temple here of good workmanship.
The ruined Lakshmangsvara temple at the Mataniru gate was
built in 1487 (Pavugada 54) by the Harati chief Chika-Tippa-
Nayaka in memory of his deceased wife Lakshmidsvi. Pavugada
54 also tells us that there were shrines of Durga, Bhairava and
Ganapati in each of the eight directions on the hill. The above-
mentioned Bhairava shrine may be one of these. At the village
on the first elevation is a temple of Durga and a small shrine
surmounted by a tower known as Rangadhamana-mantapa which
is8 now empty. Two modern inscriptions on bells were copied
at the Durga temple. Two more ‘“well stones, ” similar to those
noticed in the palace garden, are also to be found near the village.
At some distance from the village are the Virabhadra, Pirsva-
nitha, Adiniriyana, Lakshminarasimha, Nagarésvara, Male-
Mallikarjuna and Somésvara temples scattered in different direc-
tions. In the Virabhadra temple the god, about five feet high,
i8 & two-armed figure holding a sword and a shield. The Parsva-
nitha-basti probably came into existence in 1232 according to
Pavugada 52 in which it is named Jogavattigeya-basadi. The
god, about five feet high, faces east, while his Yakshi, Padmavati,
a seated figure, about two feet high, is enshrined in a cell facing
south. There is also a figure of Brahma on horseback, which
was once over the pillar in front. Two inscriptions were found
on the pedestals of images, as also two modern ones on a bell
anda gong. Adindrdyanaisa good figure, about five feet high.
In the navaranga of the Lakshminarasimha temple are kept a
figure of Sirya and a panel depicting the coronation of Rama.
On both sides of the outer entrance are cells containing big
figures of Hanuman. The Nagarésvara temple has two cells
enshrining lingas named Nagarésvara and Gaurisvara, and the
navaranga has figures of Vishnu, Mahishasuramardini and
Baptamatrikah together with a few well-carved Nagakanyakas.
The inscriptions Pavugada 47-50, which are wrongly stated
in the Tumkur Volume of the Epigraphia Carnatica to Je in the
Kailahastisvara temple, are here. This temple goes back to
1248 (Pavugada 50). There are two viragals in the prakara of the
temple. The Somésvara temple, probably founded in 1292
(Pavugada 53); seems to be the finest Dravidian structure on the
hill. It has an elegantly carved navaranga doorway of black
stone with jambs consisting of four fascias—the innermost adorned
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with scroll work, the next with figures in every convolation
of the scroll, the third carved into an ornamental pilaster and the
last sculptured with spirited lions and yalis in all postures. The
pediment has Tandavésvara with attendant musicians, the lintel
Gajalakshmi and the bottom of the jambs dvarapalakas or door-
keepers and female figures holding a lotus and a kalasa or water
vessel. The sukhanasi doorway is also of black stone, but
plain. The navaranga has besides Mahishasuramardini two
seated female figures, about 1} feet high, one holding a child in
the left hand and & fruit in the right, the other holding a fruit
in the left hand and some indistinct object (? a short staff) in the
right. It is not clear what these two figures are intended to
represent. Recently two new inscriptions have been discovered
at this temple.

Nittur.—A village in Gubbi taluk. Population 1,182.

This appears to have been a place of great importance
at one time. In E. C. XIII, Gubbs 11, of 1226, it is called the
southern Ayyavale (Aihole), the navel of the Gangavadi Ninety-
gix thousand and the crest-jewel of the Heruhe-nidu. The
Santisvara-basti at the village is a Hoysala structure of about the
middle of the 12th century, consisting of a garbhagriha, a sukha-
nasi, a nmavarange and & mukha-mantapa. The navaranga,
supported by black stone pillars, has nine beautifully carved
ceilings, about 2} feet deep, with projecting circular panels
sculptured with the figures of the ashta-dikpalakas. The beams
too are sculptured with ornamental work. The elegantly
carved navaranga doorway has five fascias in each architrave and
bears an inscription on the lintel giving the name of the artist
who. prepared the doorway. The garbhagriha which contains
the original figure being in a dilapidated condition, a new figure
has recently been set up in the sukhanasi. A cell to the left in
the mukha-mantapa has a figure of Padmavati. The outer walls
which are here and there supported by props are decorated
with single or double pilasters surmounted by well-carved tur-
rets. There are also intervening Jina figures, either seated
or standing, but most of them are mutilated or chiselled out,
a few being unfinished. On the north and south outer walls
of the navaranga are two fine but empty niches with female
figures -at the sides. There are several nishidis or epitaphs

Nittur.
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around the basti with the figures of the dead carved at the top.
Two new inscriptions at this place have been recently copied by
the Archaological Department here. A few palm leaf manu-
scripts in the possession of the archaka of the basti contain
some unpublished Jaina works in Sanskrit and Kannada. The
temple of Mariyamma, the village goddess, has an ant-hill for
the object of worship, and a box-like pavilion with painted wooden
figures serves the purpose of a processional image. On this box
is kept a painted wooden head, known as Sama, which s parti-
cular individual puts on and dances during the annual festival.

Nonavinkere.—A village in Tiptur taluk. Population
1,552,

This place is one of the pancha-gramas or five settlements
of the Hebbar Srivaishnavas, the others being Kadaba, Maya-
sandra, Nuggihalli and Bindiganavale. The Bateriya temple
here is a large Dravidian structure enshrining a fine figure,
about 4} feet high, of Srinivasa. The god is said to have been
set up by Prasanna-Konsriayyangir, whose figure, wearing a
beard and ‘a cap, stands with folded hands on a pillar of the
navaranga. He was a great devotee of the god Srinivasa of
Tirupati and used to go on pilgrimage to that holy place every
year. When he was unable to undertake the annual trip owing
to old age, the god appeared to him in the guise of a Vaishnava
mendicant and disappeared after telling him that he would
take up his abode in that village. The managers of the temple
and the archaka are said to be his lineal descendants. The
processional image is a very handsome figure. There are also
stone and metallic figures of some Alvirs and sages. The
Gopalakrishna temple, said to be older than the Beteraya, is
also a Dravidian building with three cells, the main cell having
Késava, the north cell Yoga-Narasimha and the south Vanu-
gopila. The last is an elegantly carved figure standing under
& honne tree flanked by consorts with figures of cows, etc., at
the sides. The temple is named after this deity. This building
has to be looked upon as an instance of a trikitGehala in the
Dravidian style, this feature being very common in Hoysala
structures. Here too the processional image is a very handsome
figure. Two modern inscriptions were copied here. Accord-
ing to the Sthala-purana, the place was once a jungle, and the
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presence of the image of Gopalakrishna which had been buried
under an ant-hill was revealed by a cow dropping milk on the
spot every day. There are also five Siva temples in the village
—the Santésvara, the Nonabésvara, the Chandésvara, the
Kallésvara and the Gaurisvara. To the south of the compound
of the Nonabésvara temple are lying mutilated figures of Durga,
Bhairava and Saptamitrikah, and Nandis. The village god-
dess, named Ubasilamma, is a scated stucco figure with the
usual attributes, namely, a trident, a drum, a sword and a cup.
No victims are sacrificed to her. On the occasion of the annual
festival she is worshipped by a Brahman. In a small shrine
on the tank bund is the goddess Gollamma, a standing figure,
about 3 feet high, with 4 hands, the upper holding lotuses, the
right lower in the abhaya attitude, and the left lower placed on
the waist. A small four-pillared mantapa is pointed out as the
gaddige or tomb of the last Pilegar of the place. His palace
is said to have once stood on the site opposite to the tomb and
his pleasure garden behind it.

Northern Pinakini.—The Uttara Pindkini or Northern
Pennar has a course of only a few miles through the extreme
north-east corner of the District, in Pavugada taluk. For
a fuller account of the river, see Kolar Iistrict.

Oderhalli.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli taluk. Popula-
tion 73.

The Sintamallappa temple at this place has in front a fine
lamp-pillar, about 2 feet square at the bottom and 40 feet high,
with a lamp in the form of a stone cup on the top. The pillar
has on the east face a linga, on the south the three-legged
Bhringi bearing a vina or lute and dancing, on the west Vyagra-
pada with a censer in the right hand and a bell in the left, and
on the north Nandi. Near the temple are the samddhis or
tombs of the Lingiyat svimis of the Kallu-matha at Settikere.

To the north-west of this place is an important temple
situated on an eminence dedicated to Henjérappa. Henjérappa
is a form of Bhairava worshipped at Henjéru or Hemavati in
the Madaksira taluk of the Anantapur district, and it is Dot
clear why the god at this place is known by this name. As
far as enquiries go, there are no other places in Mysore where
Bhairava is so named. The god of the Henjérappa temple

Northern
Pindkini.

Oderhalli.
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at this village is a well-carved figure, about 3 feet high, with
prabha or glory, seated in lalitdsana with the right leg dangling,
bearing a trident, 2 drum, a sword and a skull and wearing
sandals and a necklace of skulls. His emblem, the scorpion,
i3 shown on the pedestal. To the right in the navaranga is
another seated figure, about 2 feet high, of Bhairava, which is
known as Chélu (scorpion) Bhairava, and woe to him who offends
the god : his house will be full of scorpions in every direction.
The sukhanast has to the right alinga known as Siddharamésvara
set up on an embankment which is said to have been the seat
of penance of the Virasaiva teacher Siddharima. The temple
is said to have been built or renovated by a Hagalvadi chief.
It has also a Bilvayriksha-vihana. Two modern inscriptions
were found on bells. Behind the temple are two mud plat-
forms enclosing the roots of a country fig-tree and a banyan
tree, which are worshipped as Attimaradamma (goddess of the
fig tree) and Aladamaradamma (goddess of the banyan tree).

Pankajan- Pankajanhalli.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli taluk.
halli. . .
Population 83.

The Mallikirjuna temple at this place, vuigarly known
as Kangasanhalli, is a fine Dravidian structure of large propor-
tions, consisting of a garbhagrika, a sukhanasi, a pradakshina,
a navaranga, a porch, a patalankana or hall on a lower level, a
Nandi-Mantapa with a tower, a makddvire and a prakira. Tt
faces east and has an open veranda attached to it all round.
The linga in it is a conglomeration of pebbles said to represent
101 lingas. Near it are two metallic images of Umamahésvara,
one larger than the other. In the pradakshina are kept figures
of Vishnu, Bhairava and Ganapati, as also another nude figure
of Bhairava which is wrongly supposed by the villagers to re-
present a Jina. The mahadvara, about 12 feet high, is a good
piece of work, the pillars and doorways being well executed.
To the right of the inner doorway, t.e., the one facing the temple,
is a figure of Siva and a figure of Siirya flanked by female figures
holding a lotus in the left hand; and to the left, a figure of
Siva, a female figure with the right hand raised holding what
looks like a fruit in the palm and the left hand dangling pecked
by a parrot, and a smaller female figure with a similar right
hand but with the left hand placed on the waist. The meaning
of these figures is not clear. The outer doorway has at its sides
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Ganapati and Bhairava. On both sides of the two doorways
are pairs of well carved elephants, some facing each other with
their trunks intertwined. In a line with these the north and
south walls also have four elephants each. Among the sculp-
tures on the pillars may be mentioned Kannappa armed with a
bow, piercing his eye with an arrow and kicking a linga canopied
by a three-hooded snake; Sakti-Ganapati, v.e., Gabapati with
his consort seated on the thigh; and a tall linga, representing
the form of Siva known as Lingodbhavamiirti with a boar
(Vishnu) at the bottom and a swan (Brahma) at the top. There
is a fine lamp-pillar in front, about 2 feet square at the bottom
and 40 feet high, with a pavilion at the top. To the left of the
temple is the shrine of the goddess, a pretty large building with
a prostrating figure, about 5 feet long, in the middle of the
patalankana. The goddess, about 4 feet high, is a standing figure
with four hands, the upper holding a noose and an elephant-
goad, the lower being in the fear-removing (abhaya) and boon-
conferring (varada) attitudes. The Virabhadra temple to the
south has a figure, about 5 feet high, of that god with six hands,
the attributes being a sword, a shield, a trident, a drum, a
bow and an arrow. Bhadrakili to the left has a lotus for her
attribute. To the north ¢f the temple is a large pond with
a small neat mantapa in the centre. The Rangapitha temple
has a standing figure, about 3 feet high, of Vishnu flanked by
consorts, and two figures of Alvirs in the sukhanasi, but the
pijari is a Lingiyat. Near it is a shrine with a huge figure.
about 8 feet high, of Hanuman. Two new inscriptions were found
at the village, as also two modern oneson the temple vessels.

Pavagada.—A taluk in the most north-northeasterly
projection of the State. Area 523-55 square miles. Head-
quarters at Pavagada, Contains the following koblis, villages
and population :—

Villages classified

Hoblis Villa | Ham- Sarva- Khayam-| Fopu-

ges | lets | Govt.|manya| Jodi | gutta | lation

Hoskote ..} 33 5 32 .. .. 1 14,298
Mugadalbetta . | 23 20 23 .. .. . 11,583
Nagalmadike.. | 30 11 30 .. .. .. 14,165
Nidogal  ..| 33 | 26 | 32 1] .. .. 10,774
Pavagada ..| 26 21 23 2 .o 14,719

Total .. 135 83 | 140 2

(3]
-

65,629

Pavagada.
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Gummagatta 1,370 ; Pavagada 2,529 Venkatapura 1,164
Kannamédua 1,092 ; Byadanur 1,422 ; Mangalavada 1,133;
Arasikere 1,115 ; Sasalakunte 1,074 ; Hoskote 2,228 ; Kyata-
ganacherlu 1,093 ; Kamanadurga 1,046; Racharlu 1,030 ;
Ryappa 1,333; Volluru 1,094.

This taluk till 1886 was attached to the Chitaldrug district.
It represents a very irregular and tortuous oblong 20 miles
east to west. It would be fairly compact but for two spurs,
one in the extreme north-east and the other in the south-east,
The large number of hills covered with scant vegetation
forming part of the Tumkur-Pavagada-Molakahnura granite
range, and lying to the south, south-east, west and north of
the region round about Pavagada, also the range of hills
between the north-east spur and the Dharmavaram taluk,
form the chief physical characteristics here. Pavagada
and Nidagal are the prominent fortified hills in this taluk.
The formation of these hills mostly consisting of boulders of
all sizes, almost devoid of vegetation, gives to the hills in the
central and southern portions of the taluk a wild beauty of
their own. Many of the hills look as if *this had been
thrown upin the throes and convulsions of nature which
accompanied the birth of this land.”

Nearly three-fourths of the taluk is in the basir of the
Uttara Pinakini or Northern Pennir and the drainage of
about one-fourth in the extreme west finds its way into the
Hagary or the Veédavati. .

The whole taluk is diversified with picturesque valleys in
the south-west and north, where conditions for tree growth
are favourable. The cocoa-nut, areca-nut and other gardens
are found chiefly in the south-west valleys. ‘

The revenue settlement was introduced in 1872 and the
revision settlement from 1909-10. ' The areas of the different
descriptions of land according to the revision survey are as

follows :—

Arable dry crop .. .. .. 2,09,468 acres.
Rice or wet land .. .. . 85697
Garden land . . .. 10,751 ,,

Uparable land = .. .. 91,6056 .,
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The average rainfall for 20 years (1905-1924) was as
follows in inches :—

1. January . 019 7. July .25
2, February .o 022 8. Angust .. 2:26
3. March .. 033 9. September .. 441
4. April .. 059 10.  October .. 333
5. May 21 11. November .. 222
6. June 12 - 12, December .. 014

The chief road is one from Madhugiri through Madaksira Commuri-
to Pavagada and the north. There is also a road from cations.
Pavagada cast through Rodda to the railway at Penugonda,
and one west to Chellakere. A road from Madaksira to
Penugonda also crosses the south-east of the taluk. The
old Bangalore-Bellary road ran through Racharlu.

Pavagada.—A town situated in 14° 16’ N. lat., 77°21’ E. Pavagada.
long, at the southern base of the hill so named, 60 miles
porth of Tumkur, on the road from Madhugiri, and 19 miles
west of the railway at Penugonda. Headquarters of the taluk,
and a municipality.

Population in 1921 Males Females Total
Hindus - e .| 1,152 1,092 2,244
Mahomedans .. .- . 108 146 254
Christians .. e 1 1 2
Jains ‘e .o .e 15 14 29

Total o 1,276 1.253 2,629

Pavugada or Pamu-Gonda, snake hill, is said to have been
so named from a remarkable stone that was discovered there.
with the figure of a snake upon it.

The place was the haunt of a body of freebooters, who sub-
sisted by plundering the neighbouring country, when it was

M. GR. VOL. V. 34
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captured by Balappa Navak, the founder of the Pavagada line
of Palegirs. He was one of three brothers of the Yerra Golia
caste, who, about 1585, coming from Gutti, entered into the
service of Havali Baire Gauda, Pilegir of Chik-Ballapur (Kolar
district). This chief, having no children, adopted Balappa
Nayak, and when summoned to aid the king at Penugonda in
an attack upon Gutti, sent him in command of the contingent.
Balappa Nayak, from his local knowledge, was enabled to sur-
_prise Gutti, and was rewarded with a grant of Pallavola and
other villages. It was after obtaining this estate that he seized
Pavagada and fortified the hill. At a later period, a confla-
gration broke out at Penugonda, owing to a powder magazine
being struck by lightning. Venkatapati Riava was absent at
the time, but Balappa Niyak, hastening to the place extin-
gnished the spreading flames, for which service he was invested
with the title of Palegdr, and reccived a large accession of terri-
tory. This—with occasional losses from attacks by the Palegirs
of Ratnagiri, Nidugal and Raydurga, and the Mahrattas-—his
descendants continued to govern until the place was taken by
the forces of Haidar Ali, when the chief, Timmappa Niyak,
and his family, were sent as prisoners to Madhugiri. In 1777,
when engaged in operations against Chitaldrug, Haidar visited
Pavagada and ordered the erection of the present fortifications.
The Pilegar of Racharlu was at the same time made prisoner
and sent to Penugonds, his territory being annexed to
Pavagada. When Madhugiri was taken by the Mahrittas,
cooperating with Lord Cornwallis against Seringapatam,
Timmappa Nayak obtained release, and took possession again
of Pavagada: but on the conclusion of peace, could not keep
the place against Tipu.

The hill of Pavagada rises to 2,026 feet above the level
of the sea.

Both the town of Pavagada and the hill near it are beauti-
fully fortified.

The bill is not one mass of rock like those at Madhugiri
and Midigesi, but is made up in the higher portion of a number
of gigantic boulders, some of them being nearly 100 feet high.
There are ten gates leading to the top. At some distance from
the foot is the Kammarawantapa ; higher up, Bettada (or the
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hill) Anjanéya, a good figure, about 7 feet high, with a well-
carved uttariyam or upper cloth and a little monkey seated to
the left cating something; further up, a circular doné called
Koneri and a mantape known as Konerimantapa, near which
stands a dome-like structure for storing ghee (tuppada kanaju).
Going further, we sce a rock with some small holes which are
beheved to be the hoof marks of a horse which leapt from the
top. Near by is a well, now closed, from which water is said
to have been drawn to the top of a boulder, about 80 feet high.
On the top is the Sultan-batteri (battery), occupying the highest
point, and to its west, Subbaraya's batteri. Besides the one
already mentioned, the hill has several more donés known as
Akkaminana-doné, Babaiyanakere, Bhimana-doné and so forth.
The last is a fine reservoir with clear and deep water, situated
between two huge boulders. We have to descend some 70
steps to reach the water. This doné is said to be connected with
another at the foot of the hill known as Kelagaver doné. A
square slab containing a defaced Persian inscription, which
was fitted into a cavity in the boulder to the right, is now kept
in the Archwological Office. A spot is shown on the hill where-
from undesirables were once hurled down to the bottom of the
precipice. We have here also the usual granaries of ragi,
paddy and powder magazines. The summit has an incomplete
mosque which is said to have been built with the materials of
a Gopalakrishna temple which once stood there. A Persian
inscription is to be seen here. There is a small shrine at the
foot of the hill called the Gopalakrishna in which the metallic
image of the Gopalakrishna temple used to be kept when
that temple was on the hill. We have now a Gopila-
krishna temple in the town itself. From an inscription newly
discovered on the hill, we learn that the fortress was built in
1405 by Gopanna, a general under the Vljayanagar king
Déva-Raya.

Municipal ¢ ’

i 1918-19 | 1919-20 | 192021 | 192122 | 1922.23
Tncome .. | 2,086 1,843 1,290 1,726 2,982
Expendi- 11,608 1664 2,609 2,183 | 2,123
ture,

34*
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Rampura.—A village in Koratagere sub-taluk. Popula-
tion 1,541. :

The Venkataramana temple at this place is a large Dravidian
structure with a gopura and prakire which present some features
of the Saracenic style. It is said to have been renovated during
Haidar’s time. To the left of the outer entrance is sculptured
a standing male figure, about 14 feet high, wearing a cloak and
leaning on a staff, resembling the Kempe-Gauda figures noticed
at Magadi and other places. The god is knewn as Kari-Tim-
mappa. There is likewise a figure of Paravisudéva kept in the
navarbnga as also figures of Vishvakséna, Ramanujacharya and
Nammalviar. The pedestal of Anantanatha in the Anantanitha-
basti at the village bears an inscription ‘of three lines. The
basts does not appear to be an old one.

Rangasamudra.—A village in Pavagada taluk. Popula-
tion 620.

Near this place was noticed a big heap of moras or winnows
below a tree, and on enquiry we were told that these were the
offerings of the village to the goddess Moralamma (the goddess
of winnows) who was being carried from village to village, and
that they had to be removed to the next village along with the
goddess. The village has a small elegant shrine surmounted
by a tower, which is called Mallésvara’s mantapa, though there
is nothing inside.

Sampige.—A village in the Gubbi taluk, four miles west
of Kadaba. Population 871.

It is stated to be the site of Champakanagara, the capital
of Sudhanva, of whom an account is given in the Jaimini
Bharata.

Settikere.—A village in Chiknayakanhalli taluk. Popula-
tion 1,718.

The Yoga-Madhava temple at this place which faces east
is a trikutdchala or three-celled Hoysala structure, with a stone
tower over the main cell. It consists of three cells, a common
navarange and a porch, the main cell alone having a sukhanass.
Latterly, however, a mukha-mantapa or front hall in the Dravidian
style has been built with the materials of a ruined Siva temple
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now submerged on the tank. The goddess of this Siva temple,
a good four-armed figure, about 3 feet high, is now kept in a
cell to the right in the front hall. The sukhanasi doorway and
that of the navaranga and its pillars are well executed. The
ceilings, about 2 feet deep, are 14 in number, 3 in the 3 cells, one
each in the sukhanast and porch and 9 in the navaranga, and all
have lotus buds surrounded by rows of petals. The one in front
of the north cell shows crossbars and that of the porch painted
petals. At the sides of the sukhanasi entrance are beautifully
carved figures of Ganapati and Mahishasuramardini. The god
in the main cell, known as Yoga-Madhava, is a seated figure,
about 5 feet high with prabkdvalt or glory, with 4 hands, the up-
per ones bearing a discus and a conch, the lower placed plam
over palm exactly like those of a Jaina Tirthankara, without
the dhydnamudraormeditative pose usually noticed in representa-
tions of this deity. Such a figure does not seem to be found
elsewhere. The north cell has Lakshminiriyana and the south
Vénugopila, both about 5 feet high. The latter stands under
8 honne tree flanked by consorts. There are also as usual cows,
cowherds, cowherdesses and sages sculptured at the sides. All
the three images are well executed and their prabhavalis sculp-
tured but only pilasters and miniature turrets. From the
inscription in the navaranga (Chikndyakanhalli 2) we learn
that the temple was built in 1261 by Gépala-dandaniyaka dur-
ing the reigu of the Hoysala king Narasimha III. It names the
villsge Bharitaprakisapura and the god Yoganatha. At the
top of the slab is a small figure of Yoga-Madhava resembling the
image in the main cell. The temple, which is in a state of dis-
repair, deserves conservation. The roof has to be water-proofed
and svnie arrangement made to let in light to the dark interior.
Of a metallic figure found here and acquired for the Archaological
office, Mr. Narasimhachar, the late Director, writes :—*‘ Krishna-
méachédrya, the archaka of the temple, presented to my office a
metallic figure, about 94 feet high, of a warrior armed with a
sword and shield which he said he had picked up on the road from
Birur to Kadur about 2 years ago. The image attracted my
particular attention because I had noticed similar stone figures,
about 1} feet high, in a shrine at the entrance to the village.
The present figure may be looked upon as the processional image
of that shrine, though it is not clear what these figures are
intended to represent.” The Ranganatha temple, which is said
to be older than the Yoga-Madhava, has a standing figure, about
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3 feet high, of Vishnu, holding a discus and a conch in the
upper hands and a bow and an arrow in the lower ones. A
similar figure found at Chennagiri is called Béte (or hunting)
Ranganatha. There are two goddesses named Sridévi and
Bhiidévi, both in lalitasana, in two cells at the sides of the
garbhagriha.

Sibi.—A village in the Tumkur taluk, 15 miles north of
Tumkur, on the Tumkur-Chitaldrug road. Population 778,

It is remarkable only for the temple of Narasimha, at which
there is a great annual festival in the month of Magha, attended
by about 10,000 people. The origin of the temple is thus related :—
In the days when there were no roads and the place was covered
with jungle, a certain merchant carrying grain on pack bullocks
halted at Sibi. But when his pot of rice was set on to boil on a
small projecting rock, its contents turned to the colour of blood
and he with his attendants and bullocks fell down in a swoon.
While in this unconscious state Narasimha appeared to him
in a vision and revealing that the stone was his abode, com-
manded the merchant to build a temple over it in atonement
for the desecration committed. .

The small temple then erected was replaced by the present
large building during this century under the following circum-
stances :—Three brothers Yiving at Tumkur, who had enriched
themselves by farming the revenue of the district in the days
of Tipu, subsequently sought to atone for their oppressnons by
works of charity. To Nallappa, the eldest, Narasimha in a
vision offered eternal happiness on condition of his building
and endowing the temple at Sibi. This was accordingly
accomplished in ten years by the three brothers. It is an ordi-
nary structure, surrounded by a high stone wall. The approach
is lined on either side with mean stone sheds for the accom-
modation of visitors to the annual festival.

Shimsha.—An affluent of the Cauvery, also called the
Shimshupa, the Kadamba and the Kadaba-kola. It rises
to the south of Devaraydurga and flowing south-west
through the Gubbi taluk, forms the large Kadaba tank.
Thence running south-wards, it unites near Kallur with the
Naga, which feeds the Turuvekere tank, and further on, in
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the Kunigal taluk with the Nagini from the Kunigal tank.
Afterwards, turning east, it skirts the hills west of Huliydr-
durga and pursues a southerly course into the Mandya taluk
of the Mysore district.

Siddapura.—A village, a mile north-west of Madhugiri.
Population 937.

Has a fort which, according to an inscription at the village
(Maddagire 21), was built in 1593 by the mahd-nadu-prabhu

Chikkappa Gauda of Bijjavara during the reign of the Vijaya-.

nagar king Venkatapati-Raya I. The village has a well-
built Lingiyat matha known as Balaradhyara-matha. Bala-
radhya was probably the guru of Chikkappa-Gauda.

Sira.—A taluk in the north. Area 599-33 square miles.
Head-quarters at Sira. Contains the following hoblis, villages
and population :—

Villages classified
- 3

\ﬂ g ? ' g

HObliS 3 S E £ a -

) S« L]

&n -8 £ 3 gt =

=] = o B P e =

= 12 (8| 512 |88 B

> ® O] w ) B4 B
Sira . 51} 5 47| 1 3 96,004
Kallambella .. 51 b 49 - 2 .. 17,6562
Bukkapatna .. 69 | 17 69| .. . . 13,644
Gowdagere .. 36 2 31 .. 1 .. 18,470
Hulinkunte .. 45 1 45 . .. .- 17,664
Total .. 252 | 30 245 1 6 .. 93,324

Sira 5,596 ; Modalur 2,261 ; Sibi 1,165; Chengavara
1,489 ; Hendore 1,887; Halenahalli 1,525; Nadur 1,876;
Bukkapatna 1,670; Kotta 1,400; Melukunte 1,384 ; Tarur
1,355; Baragur 1,145; Tavaregere 958 ; Kallambella 1,513 ;
Chikkanahalli 865.

The taluk was transferred to this District from Chitaldrug
in 1866. It is at a considerably lower level than the rest of
the District. It is crossed from east to west by a stream
which flows into the Védavati, and whose course is marked

Siddapura.

Sira.

Principal
places with
population,



Sira.

536 MYSORE GAZETTEER [voL.

by cocoa-nut gardens. The tracts adjoining Madaksira
are fertile and well watered. The soil in other parts is mostly
rocky and hard. Along the west there is a good deal of
jungle, from Bukkapatna northwards.

The revenue settlement was introduced in 1870 and
the resettlement in 1910-11. The total revenue demand
for 1922-23 was Rs. 1,69,312-14-1 and for 1923-24 was
Rs. 1,66,160-8-6.

The average rainfall in the taluk gauged at the several
stations is shown below :—

In inches
1. BSira .. .. .. .. 16.76
2. Bukkapatna .. .. .. 19.50
3. Kallambella .. . .. 17.57
4. Baragur .. .. .. 1317

Sira.—A town situated in 13° 44’ N. lat., 76° 58' E long., 33
miles north-north-west of Tumkur, on the Tumkur-Chitaldrug
road. Headquarters of the Sira taluk, and a municipality.

Population in 1921 Males Females Total
Hindus . .. .. 1,831 1,734 3,666
Mahomedans .. . - 992 1,036 2,028
Christians .. . . 1 2 3

Total .e 2,824 2,712 5,696

The foundation of the town and fort is attributed to
Rangappa-Nayak, the chief of Ratnagiri, the selection of the
site being due, as is commonly related of other forts in the
country, to the turning of a hare upon the hounds while in
pursuit—an indication of heroic soil. Before the fort was
completed, Sira and its dependencies were conquered. by
Ran-dulba Khan, general of the Bijapur state. Malik Husein,
then appointed governor, completed the fort and enclosed
the town with mud walls. Malik Rihan was Subadar from
1638 to 1650.

The capture of Bijapur by Aurangzib in 1687 was speedily
followed by the conquest of the Karnatic districts dependent
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on it. Sira was made the capital of the new province south
of the Tungabhadra,—composed of the seven parganas of
Basvapatna, Budihal, Sira, Penukonda, Dod-Ballapur,
Hoskote, and Kolar, with Harpanhalli, Kondarpi, Anegundi,
Bednur, Chitaldrug, and Mysore as tributary states. Khasim
Khéan was appointed as the first governor, under the desig-
nation apparently of Faujdar Divan, a title, however, which
was often altered according to circumstances. He introduced
the Muhamnmadan revenue system, elsewhere described, and
governed with ability until 1698, when, being surprised by
the Mahrattas and the chief of Chitaldrug at Dodderi while
in the conveyance of a large treasure, he either committed
suicide to avoid disgrace or was killed by them. Zubfikar
Kban succeeded, but a governor named Rastam Jang or Chak
appears to have most distinguished himself by his adminis-
tration, gaining the title of Bahaddr and the name of Kaifiyat
Khan, The last of the Mughal governors of Sira, which
shared in many of the contests between the rivals for the
Subadari of the Dekban, was Dilavar Khéan, from whom the
place was taken in 1757 by the Mahrattas.

In 1761, Haidar, having entered into alliance at Hoskote
with Basilat Jang and received from him the title of Nawab
of Sira, at once took the place and thence extended his con-
quests all over the north. In 1766 the brother-in-law of
Haidar was induced by the Mahrattas to yield up Sira, which
remained in their hands till retaken by Tipu in 1774, since
which time it has been attached to Mysore, except for a short
period when it was occupied by the Mahratta army co-operat-
ing with the British against Seringapatam.

Sira attained its highest prosperity under Dilavar Khan
and is said to have contained 50,000 houses. An elegant
palace erected by him, now all ruined, was the model on which
those of Bangalore and Seringapatam were built. A fine
garden was also made, called the Khan Bagh, which was
kept up by Haidar and may have suggested the Lal-Bagh
at Bangalore. The ruins of a large quarter, to which tradition
assigns the name of Latapura, may yet be seen to the
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north-west of the fort. Tipu forcibly transported 12,000
families from Sira to form a population for his new town of
Shahar Ganjam on the island of Seringapatam. These vicis-
situdes and the inroads of the Mahrattas reduced the town to
3,000 houses. There are now only about 700, much scattered.
The Juma Masjid, of hewn stone (date 1696), is deserving of
mention, as also the tomb of Malik Rihan (date 1650). The
fort, well built of stone, is surrounded with a moat and a fine
glacis.

~ A large tank to the north irrigates the subjacent lands.

The soil around is favourable to the growth of the cocoa-nut,

the dried kernel of which is the staple article of export. The
population consists largely of Kurubars, who manufacture
kumblis or coarse blankets of wool imported from Davangere,
Kankuppa and Madaksira. These are exported to Walaji,
Kaudial or Mangalore, Bangalore, Mysore, Ganjam, Nagar
and Coorg. The prices range from Rs. 1-8-0 to Rs. 15 accord-
ing to quality and texture, the entire trade being of the annual
value of Rs, 50,000.

The Juma Masjid and the Darga of Malik Rihan, above
wentioned, are fine structures of the Saracenic style. The
former is said to have been built by Shaik Farid Saheb whose
tomb together with that of his brother Shaik Kabir Saheb, is
pointed out in the enclosure of the mosque. The date of con-
struction is indicated in the chronogram baitul mokaddas, A.D.
1108 (A.D. 1696). Two new Persian inscriptions were recently
discovered here. The Darga is a square building with a big
dome -with 4 black stone minarets, about 8 feet high, at the
corners over the roof. Inside is the tomb of Malik Rihan, who
was Subadar of this place from 1637 to 1650. The Darga seems
to have been erected in 1651. Its plan is given on Plate III.
Behind the building is an old mosque in which Malik Rihdn
is said to have prayed, and to the north-east a rectangular
structure known as Diddi with 4 minarets on the roof, the front
two taller than the hind ones, which he is said to have used as
a study. To the south-east, a tomb under a canopy is shown
as that of a seven-year-old daughter of Aurangazib. An
inseription on it simply names Allah and Muhammad. Another
new Persian inscription was-found here, as also one on the outer
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wall of the outhouse attached to Chikka Masidi or the little
mosque. The Baraki mosque containing the inscription Sira
711isin a dilapidated condition., Near it is the tomb of Mahamud
Khan, a fine stone structure with minarets, battlements and
an ornamental plinth. At some distance to the north is a Darga
popularly known as Chinnadagors owing to the dome having a
gold kalasa or finial, containing the tomb of a Fakir named Farid-
ulli Shih Huseni, who. is said to have come from Bijapur and
performed severe penance here till ant-hills grew around him.
He is held in great respect by all classes of Mahomedans, his
makan being looked upon as a Chaukhundi-matha. An annual
urs takes place in his honour. The Darga is a small square stone
building with a large dome and minarets. It was presented with
the gold kalasa, it is said, by a Palegar of the place in fulfilment
of a vow. Its custodian, Saiyad Kissim, who is about 80 years
old, said that he was the 7th in descent from Farid-ulld and gave
his pedigree thus:—Farid-ulld, his disciple Masum Shah, his
disciple Maguli Shah, his disciple Lutpulla Shah, his disciple
Yadulla Shah, his great-grandson Saiyad Kissim. According
to him, Fakirs are of 4 classes: Khadri, Chishtya, Sarvardiya
and Mujaddadiya. The first class may wear either dkéts or
trousers ; but the second only dhdti and they have to get clean-
shaved. Saiyad Kassim has in his possession a good number
of sannads relating to the makan isgued by Aurangzib, AlamgirIl,
the Nizim, the Mahomedan Governors of Sira, Haidar and
the Mahrattas. Of these, 4 in Kannada have been transcribed
by the Government Archeological Department—1 of Haidar,
1 of the Mahrattas, 1 of Pradhin Venkappaiya of Mysore and
| of Nawab Lal Muhammad Khan, The town is said to have
once possessed 90 mosques, and it is studded all over with
Mahomedans’ tombs.

The god of the Gopalakrishna temple. has been removed
to the newly built Nariyana temple in the town and a good
figure of Hanuman, brought from some other place, has been
set up instead. The object of worship in the Durga temple is
an aunt-hill. In the mantapa to the south of it was found a new
inseription. There is also an inscription on a tomb situated
in the compound of the Travellers’ Bungalow, which tells us that
a European lady named Ellen died of Cholera in 1846 in Sira.
To the north of the town is said to be situated the site of an
ancient city called Latapuri, that portion occupied by a few
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mean-looking houses being even now known as Latapuri-hatti.
Recently a broken cannon was unearthed in a quarter of the
town known as Kumbara-hatti to the north of the fort. It is
lying there even now. The fort is a fine stone structure with
a moat all round. It once had two more enclosing mud walls
also with moats, traces of which exist. The inner fort is almost
intact, but not inhabited though traces of former houses and
offices are visible. There are two fine gates on the north with
a side doorway in each case. A hall is attached to each, the
first supported by six black stone pillars and the second by four
sculptured granite pillars, though the sculptures are deliberately
mutilated or chiselled out. The side doorway of the first gate
i3 of carved black stone. There is a ruined mosque in the fort
and a stepped well in which the wives of the Palegar are said
to have drowned themselves when the fort was invested by the
Mahomedans. To the south-west of the Travellers’ Bungalow
is a spacious cave divided into two compartments to the right
and left. The villages of Nadiiru, Kereyarahalli and Kallukste
and Hulkiiru possess inscriptions. One at the last place has
to be looked upon as a find of some historical importance, as it
happens to be the only lithic record so far discovered of the Ganga
king Sripurusha with a date in the Saka era. This inscription
is on a big pillar-like black stone which was immersed in water.

In the fort is the tomb of T. T. Temple (2nd regiment-
N. C.) who died on 14th March 1800.

Municipal Fands 1923
Income . . o . 8,404
Expenditure ve o - . 6,673

Sitakal.—A village in the Kolala hobli of the Tumkur
taluk. Population 915. :

Brass utensils are manufactured by Bhdgars or braziers,
and there is an extensive trade in cotton.

- Sravanagudi.—A villagein Madhugiri Taluk. Population
151.

This place has a number of old viragals (Maddagiri 92-101)
standing near one another. At some distance from them is
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an uninscribed viragal, which is worthy of notice. It has in the
upper portion a hero in the arms of celestial nymphs, while
in the lower portion is seen a tiger pouncing on a bull. Probably
the man fell fighting with the tiger.

Sravandanahalli.—A village in Madhugiri Taluk.
Population 1,109.

An old inscription probably of the period of the Nolamba,
king Ponnera (close of the 8th century), has been recently
discovered at this place. The engraver’s name is givenin it as
Dhanapati-achari. An uninscribed viragal by the side of this
epigraph has a prostrate figure lying at the bottom with the
left hand severed, the cut off hand being placed at the side.
The meaning of this is not clear.

Sulekere.—A village in the Turuvekere Sub- taluk
Populatlon 200.

There is a very small Isvara temple at Sulekere in the
Hoysala style, consisting of only a garbhagriha and a sukhanast
both of which have ceilings with lotus buds. The garbhagrika
which is surmounted by a small stone tower bas a good figure,
about two feet high, of Bhairava near the linga. The outer
walls have only pilasters. The Virabhadra temple at the same
village bas a front veranda of 3 ankanams supported by four
scuptured pillars containing figures of Arjuna fighting with Siva,
the hunter Kannapa kicking a linga, etc. Another sculpture
worth noticing is an ingenious combination of an elephant and
a bull with only one head for both. The navaranga has likewise
a curious sculpture in which two female figures with their braids
of hair decorated with ornaments stand opposite to each other,
a spear-like thing supporting or piercing their armpits. It is
not known what this sculpture is intended to represent.

Suvarnamukhi.—A stream which rises in Channaraya-
durga. Flowing at first south-east, on emerging from the
hills it turns to the north-east, and passing Koratagere,
after a course of about 15 miles runs into the Jayamangali.

Tandaga._A village in the Sub-taluk of Turuvekere.
Population 754,

Sravandana.-
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This is the reported birth-place of Silivihana, who was
begotten of a potter woman of this village by a Brahman. The
Chennakésava temple here is a good specimen of the Hoysala
style, finer aund larger than those noticed at Turuvekere and
Hulikal, though the plan is the same. One peculiarity of the
temple is that every architectural smember and piece composing
the structure bears an inscription giving its position, directions,
etc., in the building. The garbhagrika and the sukhanasi are of
about the same dimensions, measuring 7 feet hy 6 feet; the
porch 18 5 feet square, and the navaranga 15 feet by 13 feet.
All the doorways are well carved. The lintel of the garbhagriha
doorway has a figure of Garuda and the jambs a dvarapalaka
and a female figure each, the latter holding a fruit in one hand
and a chaurt in the other. The original figure of Késava is kept
outside owing to mutilution, a new image being set up in its
place. In the sukhanasi are kept two figures of Alvars or Sri-
Vaishnava saints. The sukhanasi doorway has on its lintel
a figure of Gajalakshmi flanked by makaras with Varuva seated
ou their back, and at the sides ornamental screens and two niches
enshrining Ganapati and Lakshmi. The navaranga has nine
domed-ceilings, about two feet deep, with lotus buds, the central
one beingﬁ usual better executed than the others. The
garbhagrika and sukhanasi have likewise ceilings of the same
kind, but that of the porch is the largest and the best of all.
It has a grand lotus bud, about two feet long, with two concentric
rows of elegantly executed knobs. The porch has likewise a
prostrating figure about 4 feet longin relief, but it is not known
whom it represents. The outer walls of the navaranga have
only pilasters and turrets without any figure sculpture, but those
of the garbhagriha and sukhanasi have figures also between
pilasters surmounted by turrets. Among the figures noticed
are Vishnu 5, Narasimha killing Hiranyakasipu, Brahma and
Umamahésvara with Nandi and mungoose shown as vehicles.
Some of the turrets show fine work of creeper design. The
stone tower over the garbkagriha has rows of figures from the
bottom to the top in the four directions with carvings at the
sides. The temple is fortunately in a good style of preservation.
The Mallésvara temple is a modern structure built of the materials
taken from some ruined Isvara temple. In the navaranga is
a seated female figure, about 1} feet high, holding a drum and
a trident in the upper hands, the lower hands being broken.
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On both sides of the outer entrance are found several well-carved
figures besides two viragals. All the female figures are seated
and arc about the same size, being about 14 feet high. One
of them with a noose, an elephant goad, a fruit and a lotus for
its attributes, may perhaps represent Sarasvati. Of the others,
two hold in the upper hands a trident and a drum and one a bow
and an arrow, the lower hands being broken. They do not
appear to be members of the Saptamatrikah series.

The Isvara temple at this place is a Dravidian structure
facing east. It has a veranda of three ankanams on the east
and a small porch on the south. The veranda 1s a good strue-
ture supported by four sculptured pillars with lions and riders.
Among the figures on the panels of the pillars may be mentioned
Lingddbhavamiirti of Siva with Brahma flying up in the form of
a swan to reach the top of the linge and Vishnu down head fore-
most, to reach the base ; (fajasuramardana, Tindavésvara with
Vishnu and Brahma shown on the adjoining panels as drumming
and beating time respectively, the sage Vyaghrapada in the
form of a tiger with a human face, the hunter Kannappa one of
the 63 devotees of Siva, kicking a linga, and Arjuna engaged
in religious austerities. Another sculpture worthy of notice
is a four-handed figure of Siva standing with Parvati at the side
and supporting with the right upper hand a seated female figure,
evidently Ganga, from which a stream of water is shown as
issuing and entering into the mouth of the Nandi seated
below, the left lower hand being placed on the breast of Parvati.
It is not clear which lile or sport of Siva this is intended to
represent. To the right in the navaranga stands a well carved,
though horribly mutilated, figure about 5 feet high, with 8
hands all of which are broken. It is difficult to say which god
is represented by this figure. It is locally known as Kanchina-
dévaru.

Tattekere.—On ahill known as Ranganithasvimi-betta
near here stands a temple called the Ranganatha, though the
object of worship in it is a pillar marked with the discus of
Vishnu with the vajrang: of Narasimha in front as at Suggan-
halli. This form of Narasimha, which appears to be rather
peculiar to these parts, is also to be seen at Neralkere. There
is a good Garuda-pillar, about 20 feet high, in front of the

Tattekere.
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temple. It has as usual, a Garuda on the side facing the
temple, the sculptures on the remaining sides being Rama on
the east, a conch-blower on the north and a vase on the south.
Malingana-betta, a hill about 2 miles to the north of Tatte-
kere, had once a figure of Sankole Virabhadra in a shrine on
itsslope. The god was so named because, according to tradi-
tion, he had to be fettered (sankole) owing to his mischie-
vous pranks with the women of the surrounding villages.

Tiptur.--A taluk in the south-west. Area 313 square miles.
Head-quarters at Tiptur. Contains the f{ollowing hoblis,

~ villages and population :—

Villages classified
- @

. - .5

Hoblis gbgn £ z E g o ‘53

= g 4 r ] 25 2

= ® ° = & =& &

> X & ] = |

Tiptur - 85 36 64 1 22.850
Nonavinakere .. 52 8 52 81,326
Hounavali .. 60 27 57 2 i .- 13,798
Kibbanahalli .. 8] i 60 .. I . 12,687
Total .. {238 72 233 2 3 .. 62,997

Tiptur 4,519; Nonavinakere 1,552; Honnavalli 2,097 ;
Halkurike 1,170.

The taluk, till 1886, was called Honnavalli; and at the
same period Turuvekere, transferred from the old Kadaba
taluk, was made a sub-taluk.

The taluk is an undulating table-land, except in the extreme
north, where there are rocky hills bare at the top. In a
country of this kind, it would be vain to look for large
streams or rivers and in fact, there are none of them here.
But the character of the surface is eminently suited for the
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construction of tanks. In trees, the taluk is remarkably
poor, possessing nothing better than low scrub jungle of
which large stretches may be seen all over. Black, brown
and red soils are met with ; but the black soil is very scarce
and not of any special importance in the eyes of the raiyat.
The prevailing kind is the red, mixed with sand in varying
proportions. The soils in the northern parts are generally
poor, being more or less gravelly, In the centre and south
they are reddish in the high lying, and dark brown in the
low-lying lands ; on the other hand, near Ichanur and Setti-
halli, there are large areas of stony ground where stones
used as pillars were at one time quarried. Leaving out
extreme cases, the soil generally is fertile enough to repay the
cultivator for his labour and expense. On dry lands, the
crops generally grown in all parts of the taluk are ragi, avare,
togari, kulthi, chilli, castor, gingelly, ground-nut and tobacco.
Raiyats have recently taken to growing cotton in some parts.
The wet crop is chiefly paddy of the coarser kind raised on
lands under large tanks. Sugar-cane is not generally culti-
vated, though soil and water are favourable under some of
the large tanks, as the raiyats are more for cocoa-nut gardens
which bring in good, relatively certain, profit. The greatest
measure of attention is paid to the cultivation of cocoa-nut
and the area under this cultivation is extending every vear.
Cocoa-nuts grown at and near Honnavalli are considered to
be the best on account of their good flavour. The taluk
suffered very much in the famine of 1877-78.

The revenue settlement was introduced in 1880 and the
revision settlement in 1921-22. The area of the taluk was
thus distributed at the time.

Culturable (dry 87.953, wet 3:297, Garden

19,494) - .. . 1,10,744 acres.
Unculturable (roads, vnllages sites, etc. ,) 66,826 ,,
Inam Vﬂlages\ﬁ 087 ; Amrut-Mabal kavals

16,908 . . .o oo 22,99

12

Total . 2,00,565
M, GR, VOL. V. 35
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The average rainfall for the past 25 years in Tiptur (1899-
1923) and for two years in other places was as follows :—

Month
Station
Jan. | Feb. | Mar | Aprii| May | June | July
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Tiptur .. 103 [0-10]0-3311-36(3-95]1-48 |25
Honnavalli e .. .. 09713251319 1:368 315
Kibbanahalli . .. .. 1-14] 10 [3-33]2-24]2-9
Nonavinkere .. .- .. 0-25] 1-87 {2391 1-48 | 1-87
Station Month Total
Aug. | Sep. |Oct. | Nov. | Dec. average.
— - - }——- - — —
9 10 11 12 13 14
Tiptur 2431 411 1465 | 2-46 | 0-27 23:26
Honnavall 0-6010-87 13771280 | 0-40 20-36
Kibbanahalli 1-37 ] 3-2 3:27 1263 g 15 20-24
Nonavinkere 037127 (524|215 =25 17-94

The trunk road from Bangalore to Shimoga runs through
the middle of the taluk from east to west via Tiptur. From
Tiptur there are roads south-west to Hassan via Lingada-
halli ; south to Channarayapasag via Nuggihalli, and south-
east to Turuvekere via Nonavinkere and this latter continues
on to Mayasandra whereat meets Gubbi-Seringapatam
road with a branch to Yediyur.

From Turuvekere a road runs north to Banasandra railway
station, Chiknayakanhalli and Huliyar. From Konehalli
Railway Station in the west, there is a road north to Honna-
valli and Huliyar. New roads have also been formed so as
to connect almost all the villages with one another and
these are in fair weather, as good as made roads.

Tiptur.—A large trading place, situated in 13° 15" N.
lat., 76° 32’ E. long., 46 miles west of Tumkur, on the
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Bangalore-Poona railway and the Tumkur-Shimoga road.
Head-quarters of Tiptur taluk, and a municipality.

Population in 1921 Males Females Total
Hindus 1,720 1,619 3,339
Mussalmans 490 434 924
Jains 16 5 21
Christians 18 9 27
2,244 2,067 4,311

It is the seat of a gieut weekly ‘Shandy’ which lasts from
Saturday morning till noon on Sunday and is attended by
merchants and raiyats of the neighbouring taluks also. Trans-
actions amounting to Rs. 30,000 are effected in this market.
Immense business is carried on in copra with Bombay,
Delhi, Cawnpore, and other distant trade centres. Tiptur
having become an important trade centre, a branch of the
Mysore Bank has been opened to facilitate trade. There is
a charitable institution called ‘Veerasaiva Ananda Asram’
where many Lingayat students are given free lodging and
boarding. There is an English High School. In addition to
the Honorary Bench Maglstrates Court, a Special 2nd Class
Magistrate’s Court is located in the town with jurisdiction
over the taluks of Tiptur, Turuvekere and Chiknayakanhalli.

Municipal Funds 1921-22 | 1922-23 | 1923-24 |
Income 19,207 | 19,677 | 24,303
Expenditure 19,068 | 19765 | 21,047

Tumbadi.—An ancient village in Koratagere Sub-Taluk.
Population 524.

An inscription at this place (Maddagiri 27) gives the name
of the village as Tumbevadi. It is evidently identical with

Tumbepidi mentioned in Bangalore 83, of about A.D. 900,

as the place where, by order of the Ganga king Ereyappa,
Nagatara fought with the Nolambas and fell.

36%

Tumbadi.
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Tumkur.—A taluk in the east. Area 45469 sq. miles.
Head-quarters at Tumkur. Contains the following hoblis,
villages and population :—

Villages
Hoblis Total Population
Govern-
ment. Inam

I. Tumkur .. 56 7 63 29,684
2. Uradagere . 71 4 75 19,332
3. Kora : - 72 3 75 - 15,351
4. Bellavi .. 50 3 53 11,141
5. Gulur . 60 10 70 17,891
6. Hebbur .. 71 7 7 21,455
7. Kolala . 50 14 64 10,280
Total . 430 48 478 1,25,294

Tumkur 14,086 ; Siravara 1,046 ; Hebbur 2,021 ; Kesthur
1,111 ; Chikkathothegere 1,294; Uradagere 1,068 : Kyatha-
sandra 2,035 ; Gulur 1,521 ; Honnudike 1,116 ;  Bellavi
1,898.

The east of the taluk is occupied by the Devarayadurga
hills, which are surrounded with forest. The J ayamangali
rises in them on the north, but during its short course in this
taluk is of little benefit, owing to the rocky and rugged nature
of the country surrounding its banks. The tracts south of
the hills are well supplied with tanks, fed by streams which
ultimately unite to form the Shimsha. The country around
Tumkur is very fertile and highly cultivated ; to the westward
it is less fruitful. The undulating nature of the country being
favourable to the formation of tanks, there are extensive gar-

< dens of areca-nut and cocoa-nut, as well as the usual paddy

cultivation. The streams, though none of them large enough
to supply channels, arc yet of great assistance to agriculture,
the water after the rains being distributed from them to the

adjoining fields by Yata and Kapile wells.
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The revenue settlement was introduced in 1871 and thg
revision settlement in 1910-11 and 1922-23. The area of
the taluk at the time was thus distributed :—

Culturable .—
Dry 1,43,037
Wet 17,235 .. .. 1,65,409
Garden 5,137 ;
Unculturable :— . '
(Roads, Tanks ete.) .. .. .. 74,290
The revenue demand for 1923-24 was as follows :(—
Demand Collection Balance
Re. a. p. Rs. a. p. Rs a.p
2,92,373 14 10 2,60,668 6 11 31,716 7 11

The Bangalore-Poona railway runs through the taluk from
east to west, with stations at Hirehalli and Tumkur. The
Bangalore-Shimoga road is close alongside the railway. From
Tumkur there are trunk roads north-west to Chitaldroog
and north-east to Madhugiri and Pavagada; with a road

south to Kunigal, connectmg at Hebbur with one from Gubbi
on the west.

Tumkuvr.—The chief town of the district, situated in Tumkur.
113° 20" N. lat,, 77° 9’ E. long., 43 miles north-west of
Bangalore, with which it is connected by rail and road.

Population in 1921 Males | Females Total
Hindus .. .. . 5,948 5,344 11,292
Muhammadans .. e .. 461 971 2132
Christians .. .o .. 372 245 817
Jains . .. .. 118 87 205 ]

Total . 7,599 6.647 14,246

It is prettily situated at the north-western base of the
Dévarayadurga group of hills, on elevated ground near the
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waste weir of a large tank. Owing to the successive droughts
from the year 1905-06, which appeared periodically, the
Tumkur tank rarely filled and the garden and wet cultivation
n and around the town cannot be said to be quite prosperous
as in the good old days of plentiful rainfall. The place is
getting drier and drier, so much so that there is dearth for
water almost throughout the year. The Mydala tank is
now fixed as the source of water supply to the town and the
municipality of Tumkur proposes to get water supply from
this tank. The town has enlarged itself by extensions in
the west, north and south. A couple of rice mills, slate
pencil and tile factories have since come into existence.

In recent years, owing to the opening of one more Munsiff’s
Court, District Normal School, Panchama and other schools
and to the raising of the local High School into a Collegiate
High School and the establishment of Special Magistrates’
Courts, the floating population of the town has greatly
increased.

Tumkur is said to have originally formed part of a territory
whose capital was Kaidala, now an insignificant village three
miles to the south of it. Its name is said to be derived from
Tumuku, a small drum or tabret, the place having been
granted to the herald or tom-tom beater of the Kaidala Raja.
But the earliest form of the name, as given in an inscription
of the tenth century is Tummegiiru. It formed part of
the Anebiddajari district. Kante Arasu, one of the Mysore
family, is said to have formed the present town, consisting
of a fort, the walls of which have now been levelled, and
a pete to the east of it.

The Deputy Commissioner’s court is a conspicuous
circular building of three storeys. The town contains
the usual District offices, a High School, and other public
buildings. It is the residence of a European Missionary of
the Wesleyan Society, who have here a chapel and several
schools.

The Lakshmikianta femple at this place which faces east,
is a Dravidian structure consisting of a garbhagriha or adytum,
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a sukhandss or vestibule, a navaranga or central hall, a mukha-
mantapa ot front hall and a prakara or enclosure. The nava-
ranga has a second entrance on the north. The god Lakshmi-

kanta is a seated figure, about 4% feet high, with the goddess.

seated on his left thigh. The temple appears to be older than
A. D. 1560, as evidenced by an inscription on the wall to the right
of the navaranga entrance (E. C. II. Tumkur 4), which records a
grant to it in that year by Jagannithadévamahi-arasu, a sub-
ordinate of the Vijayanagar king Sadasiva-Raya.

Ten miles to the east of this place is the hill station of
Davarayadurga, about 3,000 ft. above the sea-level. (g.v.)
A good road connects it with the Railway Station. The
drive is up to the seventh mile wherefrom from a heidal path
leads to the summit. Twenty-four miles from Tumkurrailway
station almost due south, is the Kunigal Stud Farm main-
tained by Government. (g. v.)

Turuvekere.—A sub-taluk in the south-west. Contains
the following hoblis, villages and population:—

Hobli Village Population
1. Mayasandra I .. - 72 19,097
2. Turuvekere .. .. . 83 20,440

Benakanakere 1,098; Mayasandra 1,165; and Turavekere 1,936.

Turuvekere.—A town in the Tiptur Taluk 8 miles south
of the Banasandra Railway-Station. Headquarters of the
sub-taluk of the same name, and a minor municipality.

Population in 1921 : Males Females Total
Hindus .. e .o 898 848 1,746
Mubammadans .. .. .. 91 89 180
Christians .. .. 3 3 6
Jains .e .- .- 1 3 4

Total e 993 943 1,936

Turuvekere.

Principal
places with
population.

Turuvekere.
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Its ancient name is said to have been Narasimhapura.
It contains three fine temples, in two of which, dedicated to
Chennigardyasvami and Virabhadra, are inscriptions making
gifts of agraharas in the time of the Hoysala king Narasimha,
of whose queen Lokamma or Lokambika it appears to have
been the native place (see below). Facing the temple of
Gangddharésvara is a recumbent bull of large size, elaborately
carved in black hornblende from Karekal-gudda, and still
retaining a brilliant polish. About 30 years after its foun-
dation, Turuvekere appears to have been captured by the
Hagalvadi chief named Sal Nayak, who committed the
government to his brothers Chikka Nayak and Anne Nayak.
By them the outer fort was built, the tank enlarged and other
improvements made. In 1676 it was taken by Chikka Déva
Raja of Mysore and has eveér since been a part of the Mysore
territory. Lingdyats form a principal part of the population.

The inhabitants depend for water entirely on the tank, which
is fed by a stream called the Niaga and contains much lotus.

The eastern end of this place shows a number of house-
sites in ruins and there is a Basava temple with a frame work
in stone in front of it. This frame work is called Chintalukambha
(weighing balance) and consists of two pillars fixed side by side
and a cross beam with iron rings over them. It is said that
Turuvekere was once a great cotton centre and that this part
of the town was called Aralepete. All the cotton sent out was
being weighed in frouni of the temple and the weighment made
on each bale here was accepted as the hall-mark of accuracy
throughout the cotton world.

The Béteraya temple is the most important of the temples
at this place and has been briefly noticed in para 9 of the Mysore
Arcismplogical Report for 1916. On the door lintel of the mahi-
dvara otthe temple, which isin the Dravidian style, Krishna with
a ball of butter in his hand is carved. The entrance mantapa
has got a raised platform (Jagali) on either side. The pillars
of the Jagali have got Vénugopila and Kilingamardana carved
on them. On the outer jambs of the inner doorway of this
mantapa are carved Honumin and Garuds. As already noticed,
Varada Béteraya is carved on the pillar facing the temple. The
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temple faces the east. Besides the entrance maniapa, it con-
sists of Garbhaguds, sukhandsi, navaranga, and a front veranda
about eight feet deep. There is a small portico attached to the
north wall of the navaranga and to the south wall of the same
there is a small room for keeping the Utsava-vigraha (proces-
sional image). In front of the verandah and on a lower level
is the Patalankana consisting of 9 ankanas and supported by
12 pillars. These latter are of two kinds. Six are octagonal,
and the remaining six are sixteen-sided. These are elegant in
design and look decent for the height which is 14’ 0" from the
ground to the bottom of the ceiling. The shrine of the goddess
is at the south-west corner of the compound and consists of
garbhagudi, Sukhanasi, navaranga and an open varanda. In
front of the last, there is a Patalankana of fifteen ankanas.
Altogether the temple is a pretty large structure with a prakara
or enclosure and a lofty mahddvire, or outer entrance. It
faces east. On the left inner pillar of the mahddvira is sculp-
tured a figure, about 4} feet high, with folded arms which 'is
said to represent Chaudappayya, afterwards known as Varada-
Béteraya, who erected the temple. His lineal descendants are
still the sthantkas or managers of the temple. These consisting
of 4 or 5 families, though Smarta Brabhmins, wear ndmam on
the forehead like the Srivaishnavas. The god Béterdya is a
good figure, about 4 feet high, with 4 hands, holding a discus,
a conch and a mace in three hands, the remaining hand being
in the abhaya or fear removing attitude. According to the
Purinic account of the place contained in a long roll of paper
styled Rayarekhe which is in the possession of Béte Rangappa.
a descendant of the above Varada-Béteraya and the Parupatya-
gar or Superintendent of the temple, the god acquired this name
because he came here at the entreaty of the demi-gods in the
Dvapara-Yuga to hunt Rakshasas or demons in the shape of
wild beasts. The Utsava Vigraha or metallic image of the ruined
Chennakésava temple is also kept here for safety.

The Bateriya temple above mentioned, has anold ornamental
wooden cot used for the repose (sayandtsava) of the god, which
is said to have been presented to the temple by Katte Gopala-
rija-arasu, a Mysore general who lived about the middle of
the 18th century. Tradition has it that the general was using
the cot when encamped at this place, that on trying to remove
it when he was about to leave the place it could not be moved,
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and that on being told by the god in a dream that it was required
for his use, the general gladly left it behind and went his way.
The processional image of the Késava temple in the front is kept
here. The car festival takes place in the month of Phalguna
(March). The Mile-Sankarésvara temple is mostly similar to
the Sadasiva temple at Nuggihalli in the formation of its tower
and outer walls (see below). Thereis a tradition that the interior
of the temple was once set on fire by the Muhammadans, which
appears to derive some support from the injured state of the
pillars and beams, now replaced by rough ones.

Turuvekere appears to have been founded as an agrahara -
or rent-free village about the middle of the 13th century under
the name of Sarvajna- Srivijaya-Narasimhapura after the Hoysala
king Narasimha III by his general Sovanna-dannayaka, the
same that established Somanathpur in T.-Narsipur Taluk
and built the celebrated Késava temple in it in A.D. 1268.
The town has two small but neatly built temples in the Hoysala
style of architecture, mostly similar in design and execution,
dedicated to Vishnu and Siva; judging from the inscriptions
found in them, it may be presumed that both of them came
into existence about the middle of the 13th century during the
reign of the Hoysala king Narasimha III and that most probably
his general Sovanna-dannayaka caused them to be built. One
of them, the Chennakésava temple which faces east, consists
of a garbhagrika or adytum, a sukhandsi or vestibule, a nava-
ranga or central hall, and a small porch with verandas at the
sides. Of the 9 ceilings in the navaranga 8 are about 1 feet
deep with lotus buds: while one in front of the sukhandst en-
trance is flat with 9 blown lotuses. The garbhagriha, sukhanas:
and porch have also deep ceilings with lotus buds. The sukhanas:
entrance has plain perforated screens at the sides. The god
Chennakasava is a fine figure about 4} feet high, flanked by
consorts. The Prabkavali or halo has the ten incarnations of
Vishnu sculptured on it. The outer walls have pilasters alter-
nating with miniature turrets, and the ggrbbagriha is surmounted
by a good stone tower with uncarved blocks. Altogether the
temple presents a very neat appearance. The other temple
in the Hoysala style, called the Mile-Sankarésvara, is in most
respects similar in plan to the Chennakésava temple, only it
has the entrance and porch on the south instead of on the east,
though the linga faces east. The tower, however, differs from
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that of the other temple in design, having rows of turrets from
the bottoin to the top at the angles. To the right in the nava-
ranga are figures of Saptamdtrikah and Ganapati and opposite
to the entrance figures of Bhairava, Virabhadra and Subrah-
manya. There is also a finely carved, but badly mutilated,
seated figure, about 2 feet high, with tusks. It is not clear
what this represents. There is no figure sculpture on the outer
walls but only pilasters with intervening turrets. On the base-
ment were found four short inscriptions giving the names of the
sculptors who built the temple. These are Sargja, Jakanna,
and Isvara. The second name occurs twice. These sculptors
must have lived about the middle of the 13th century, that
being, as stated above, the period of the temple.

A few other details of the Riyarékhe may also be noticed
here. In the Duvdpara-yuga, a sage ol the name Krikandu,
who resided in Badari-Kshétra, came to the south on a pilgri-
mage to holy places and finding this spot peculiarly sacred
owing to the presence of 5 self-manifest lingas, namely, Sambhu-
Linga, on the bank of the Naga river to the east, Brahma-linga
at Aralikere to the south-east, Kallésvara at Chikka Turuvekere
to the west, Sankarésvara at Anekere to the north-west, and
Mallésvara at Toremavinahalli to thenorth, took up his residence
on the bank of the Naga river near Turuvekere and performed
penance. God appeared to him and at his request resided
there under the name of Béteriva; and having subsequently
granted salvation to him, disappeared into the Pakshivahana
pond, saying that he would again manifest himself to the
devotees in the Kali age. The pond was so called because
Brahma used to bathe in it everyday in the shape of a swan.
We are then introduced to the Kali-Yuga. King Parikshit
and after him Janaméjaya, Makutavardhana, Rajéndra, Ksha-
make, Saranga and other kings ruled at Hastinivati. After
the lapse of 3034 years of the Yudhishthira era, Vikramaditya
began to rule at Ujjain, and after 145 years of his era and 317
years of the Kaliyuga, Salivihana began his rule. He was
born of a potter woman by a brahman father at Hale or old
Tandaga to the south-west of Turuvekere. At the age of 12
years he routed the army of Vikramaditya whbo had marched
to the south to kill him, chased it as far as the Godavari, and
ascended the throne of Ujjain. Then began the Salivahana
era. In this era a Chéla King, who caused a Brahman to die
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of a hroken heart by forcibly seizing the philosopher’s stone
which was in his possession and who in order to expiate his
sin, built temples in holy places all over the country, came to
Turuvekere and erected the Chennigariya and Sankarésvara
temples. Afterwards Sovanna-danniyaka made Turuvekere an
ugrahira and fortified it. Subsequently, during the reign of
Vira-Narasinga-Raya of Vijayanagar, the God Béteraya who
had disappeared into the Pakshivihana pond in the Dvapara-
Yuga appeared in a dream to Chaudappayya, the Hebbaruva
of Turuvekere, and directed him to put on nd@mam on his fore-
head and devote himself to his service. Thereupon, Chaudap-
payya changed his name into Varada-Béteriya, erected a stone
temple and set up the god in it. Vira-Narasinga-Raya made
a present of the metallic images in the possession of his daughter
to the temple, erected the front mantapa of three ankanas and
made a grant of five villages of the revenue value of 300 varahas .
for the god, while his queen Lokamma granted to the temple
the village Hosuru naming it Lokammanahalli after herself.
Subsequently several villages were granted to the temple by
successive rulers such as Sankanna Niayaka, Krishna Déva
Raya, Narasanna Nayaka of Mayisamudra during the time
of Rama-Rajaiya and Hiri-Bhairé Nayaka, ruler of Hagalvadi,
Chiknayakanhalli, Honnavalli, Turuvekere, and Kadaba.
A village was also added during Malik Rihin’s governorship
of Sira under the Bijapur Sultins. Turuvekere was then
captured by the Mysore king Kantirava-Narasa-Rija-Wodeyar
and the endowments of the temple continued intact till A.D.
1,686 when some of the endowments in the name of the Sthanikas
were ordered to be resumed. Thereupon a petition was made
to the queen of Mysore in A.D. 1705 through Tirumalaiyangar
and Perumalaiya which resulted in the cancellation of the order
of resumption. In 1784, however, Tipu resured all the endow-
ments ; and during Pirnaiya’s regency a small money grant
was sanctioned which was subsequently reduced. When in
1831 Krishna-Raja Wodeyar III, having set out to punish the
insurgents, was encamped near the Malaghata tank, the Stha-
nikas made petition to him through Lingammaji of Toremavina-
halli near Turuvekere, who was a lady of the king’s harem,
and procured for the temple an annual money grant of 120
Kanthiraya Varahas which was subsequently reduced to 100
varahas by Dasappaji Arasu. So ends the Rayarékhe. The
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statement that Salivibana was born near Turuvekere is rather
curious. It is, however, clear that the Béteraya temple came
into existence during the rule of the Vijayanagar king Vira-
Narasimha, son of Narasa.

The other Dravidian temple at Turuvekere is the Ganga-
dharésvara, a good structure facing north. Opposite to the
temple, outside the enclosure stands s lamp pillar on which
are sculptured figures of a man and a woman with folded hands,
which are said to represent the Palegir Ayyanna-Nayeka, the
builder of the temple, and his wife. In a fine mantupa in the
Patalankana (or front hall on a lower level than the central hall)
of the temple is a beautifully carved Nandi of black stone, about
7 feet long, 4} feet broad, and 7 feet high, which though several
centuries old still retains a brilliant polish. It deserves to
be preserved from harm by putting up a railing around it. The
navaranga has also an entrance on the east with a fine porch
supported by two well carved pillars with lions and riders. To
the right in the navaranga is a figure of Ganapati with arms
too slender for its size. The Utsava-Vigraha or metallic image
of the god is flanked by two consorts known as Parvati and
Dikshayani, the latter holding what looks like a Kundala or
ear-ornament in the right hand. This peculiarity is accounted
for by the statement that Dakshiyani thus beld the ornament
when about to enter the sacrificial fire at Dakshd’s sacrifice.
The linga in the temple is a very fine piece of work. The
jata or matted hair is beautifully shown with a seated figure of
Ganga on the tiara holding a rosary in the right hand. In a
shrine in the prakdra is the goddess of the temple, a well-carved
figure, about 4} feet high, holding a noose, an elephant-goad
and a rosary in three hands, the remaining hand being in the
abhaya or fear-removing attitude. These attributes are usually
associated with Sarasvati, but the pedestal bears the lion emblem
which is Parvati’s. Though the figure does not represent the
usual form of Parvati, it represents a peculiar form of that god-
dess known as Adharasakti, which is given these ettributes in
Hindu works on iconography. In this shrine are also kept the
metallic images of the Mile-Sankarésvara temple. Vira-rija
Arasu, father of Sita-Vilisa-Sannidhana, one of the queens of
Krishna Raja-Wodeyar 111, served as an officer at Turuvé-
kere for some time ; and from this circumstance his descendants
are known as Turuvékere Arasus.
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Municipal g 21_93 '
Funds 1919-20 | 1920-21 1921-22 | 1922-23 [ 1923-24
Income 2,655 2,473 4,676 4,420 5,327
Expenditure. 1,995 2,208 2,597 2,743 3,298

VYignasante.—A village in Tiptur taluk. Population 512.

The Lakshminarasimha temple at this place is a good build-
ing in the Hoysala style. 1t is a trikiitachala or three-celled
structure fa('ing north. The main cell, which alone has a sukha-
ndst and is surmounted by a tower, enshrines Késava, the left
cell Lakshminarasimha, and the right Vénugdpala. All the
figures are well carved, their prabhas being sculptured with the
ten incarnations of Vishnu. The door-lintels of the garbhagriha
and sukhandsi of the main cell have Gajalakshmi and Lakshmi-
narayana respectively; that of the left cell Yoga-Narasimha
and that of the right cell Vénugspala. At the sides of the
sukhanisi doorway are figures of Ganapati and Mahishasura-
mardini. The temple has & small porch and the remains of a
mukha-mantapa at some interval. The navarenga pillars to-
gether with the beams over them are elegantly carved with bead
and scroll work. The ceiling of the porch and the central ceiling
of the navaranga, about 3 feet deep, are domed and adorned with
fine lotus buds ; while the others, about 1} feet deep, are square
with small lotus buds. The porch is supported by two beauti-
fully carved pillars, the capitals too being sculptured and adorned
at the corners over them with lions attacking elephants. The
inscription stone (T'sptur 40) in the porch has at the top mini-
ature figures of Késava in the middle, Vénugspila to the right
and Narasimha to the left, the last standing like the others,
though inside the god is a seated figure. The outer walls have
no figure sculpture, but only a row of flowers of various patterns
as in the bastv at Heggere with here and there a few turrets
and elegant pilasters. The plinth has several mouldings
with rows of lions, bead work, etc. There are some figures and
carvings over the caves all round. The tower is carved from
top to bottom and has rows of four fignres one sver the other
in the four directions and rows of kalasas or finials at the angles.
From the inscription referred to above we learn that the temple
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was built in 1286 during the reign of the Hoysala king Nara-
simha III by his generals Appayya, Gopala and Madbava, who
were brothers and sons of the general Mallidéva. The village
is named Igganasante. The temple deserves conservation.
There is a crack in the south wall of the Ksasava cell which de-
mands immediate attention, The Bilalingésvara temple is a
plain Hoysala building with a stone tower adorned with four
figures one over the other in the four directions and a Hoysala
crest in front. The navaranga has only one ceiling in the centre
with a lotus bud. The garbhagrika and sukhandsi have also
similar ceilings. The front hall appears to be a later addition.
The Banasankari temple has a well carved, though mutilated,
figure, about 3 feet high, of the goddess, seated in laltasana
with eight hands, several of which are broken, the attributes
now visible being a trident, a drum, a sword and a shield. The
Bhairava shrine has a panel carved with two goddesses, one
larger than the other, seated in lalitdsana and bearing the usual
attributes, a trident, a drum, a sword and a cup.

Yediyur.—A village in the Kunigal taluk, 12 ruiles
conth-west of the kasba, on the Bangalore-Hassan road.
Head-quarters of the Yediyur hobli. Population 511.

A large festival, called Siddésvara jatre, is held here for
five days from Chaitra Suddha Tth, at which about 10.000
people assemble.

Yediyur.



